COMMUNITY WORKFORCE AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

AND

THE LOS ANGELES/ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL AND THE SIGNATORY CRAFT COUNCILS AND LOCAL UNIONS

FOR

PROPOSED MENTAL HEALTH TREATMENT CENTER (FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE CONSOLIDATED CORRECTIONAL TREATMENT FACILITY)

PROPOSED MIRA LOMA WOMEN'S DETENTION CENTER

PROPOSED HARBOR-UCLA MEDICAL CENTER MASTER PLAN PROJECT

PROPOSED KING-DREW REUSE PROJECT (MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. MEDICAL CAMPUS)

PROPOSED RANCH LOS AMIGOS CAMPUS CAPITAL PROJECTS (SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT CRIME LAB CONSOLIDATION, PROBATION DEPARTMENT HEADQUARTERS, ISD HEADQUARTERS, SPORTS CENTER, AND INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PURPOSE	2
ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS	3
ARTICLE 2 SCOPE OF AGREEMENT	7
ARTICLE 3 EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	9
ARTICLE 4 WORK STOPPAGES AND LOCKOUTS	10
ARTICLE 5 NO DISCRIMINATION OR HARASSMENT	15
ARTICLE 6 UNION SECURITY	16
ARTICLE 7 REFERRAL	16
ARTICLE 8 WAGES AND BENEFITS	24
ARTICLE 9 HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, SHIFTS AND HOLIDAYS	25
ARTICLE 10 COMPLIANCE	27
ARTICLE 11 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE	27
ARTICLE 12 JOINT ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE	29
ARTICLE 13 JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES	29
ARTICLE 14 APPRENTICES	30
ARTICLE 15 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	31
ARTICLE 16 SAFETY, PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY	32
ARTICLE 17 SAVINGS CLAUSE	33
ARTICLE 18 PRE-JOB CONFERENCE	33
ARTICLE 19 WORK AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY	34
ARTICLE 20 STEWARDS	37
ARTICLE 21 TERM	37
ARTICLE 22 RESPONSIBILITY FOR COSTS	38
ARTICLE 23 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	38
ATTACHMENT A: LETTER OF ASSENT	41
ATTACHMENT B: APPLICABLE UNION MASTER LABOR AGREEMENTS	42
ATTACHMENT C: CRAFT REQUEST FORMS	44
ATTACHMENT D: LA/OC BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNC	
APPROVED DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY	54

PURPOSE

The purpose of this Community Workforce Agreement ("CWA" or "Agreement") is to provide for the orderly settlement of labor disputes and grievances without strikes or lockouts, and to maximize the economic development opportunities for residents and businesses located within the County of Los Angeles ("County"), thereby promoting the public interest in assuring timely and economical completion of the proposed Major Capital Projects identified herein ("Covered Projects"), should some or all of the Covered Projects be ultimately approved by the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors.

WHEREAS, the County is contemplating proceeding with the design and construction of the Covered Projects; and

WHEREAS, if the County's Board of Supervisors ultimately decides to proceed with some or all of the Covered Projects it will be of the utmost importance to the County and the general public of the County; and

WHEREAS, if the County's Board of Supervisors ultimately decides to proceed with some or all of the Covered Projects, the work proposed to be done will require maximum cooperation between the Parties to this Agreement, as well as with the contractors selected to perform the Covered Work under this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, if the County's Board of Supervisors ultimately decides to proceed with some or all of the Covered Projects, the County and the Unions intend to maximize local economic development by ensuring equity and economic inclusion through comprehensive workforce and business development strategies and partner coordination;

WHEREAS, increasing access to employment opportunities with prevailing wages is one way for the County and the Unions to directly combat poverty and unemployment; and

WHEREAS, the County and the Unions are committed to contribute to the economic development of the community through the inclusion of Local Small Business Enterprise (LSBE), Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise (DVBE), and Social Enterprise (SE) firms in the execution of Covered Projects;

WHEREAS, the County and the Unions are committed to eliminating barriers and challenges to open competition and growth for LSBE, DVBE and SE firms performing work on the proposed Covered Projects;

WHEREAS, large numbers of workers of various skills will be required in the performance of the proposed construction work covered by this Agreement, including those to be represented by the Unions affiliated with the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council and any other craft labor organization which is signatory to this Agreement employed by contractors and subcontractors who are signatory to agreements with said labor organizations; and

WHEREAS, it is recognized that the proposed Covered Projects would engage multiple contractors and bargaining units on the project sites at the same time over an extended period of time, the potential for work disruption is substantial without an overriding commitment to maintain continuity of work; and

WHEREAS, the interests of the general public, the County, the Unions, contractors, subcontractors, employers and workers would be best served if the proposed Covered Projects proceeded in an orderly manner free of disruption because of strikes, sympathy strikes, work stoppages, picketing, lockout, slowdowns or other interferences with work; and

WHEREAS, the Contractors/Subcontractors/Employers ("Employers") and the Unions desire to mutually establish and stabilize wages, hours and working conditions for the workers employed on the proposed Covered Projects by the Employers, and further, to encourage close cooperation among the Employers and the Unions to the end that a satisfactory, continuous and harmonious relationship will exist among the parties to this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is not intended to replace, interfere with, abrogate, diminish, or modify existing local or national collective bargaining agreements in effect during the duration of this Agreement, insofar as a legally binding agreement exists between the Employers and the affected Unions, except to the extent that the provisions of this Agreement are inconsistent with said collective bargaining agreements, in which event, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail; and further, it is understood that Employers are bound and shall remain bound, for the duration of this Agreement by the terms of this Agreement and applicable local and national collective bargaining agreements for the craft work performed, established between the signatory Unions and Employers, in effect and covering the area of Covered Work covered by this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement reflects a commitment by all Parties to the diversity in the workforce hiring; and

WHEREAS, the Parties signatory to this Agreement pledge their full good faith and trust to work towards a mutually satisfactory completion of the proposed Covered Projects, should some or all of the Covered Projects be ultimately approved by the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES, AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 "Agreement" means this Community Workforce Agreement.
- 1.2 "Apprentice" as used in this Agreement shall mean those apprentices registered and participating in a Joint Labor/Management apprenticeship program approved by the State of California, Department of Industrial Relations, Division of Apprenticeship Standards ("DAS").
 - 1.3 "Board" means the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors.

- 1.4 "California Construction Labor Hours" means all craft worker hours performed on a Covered Project by California residents, excluding the hours performed by Inspectors, off-site material fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors.
 - 1.5 "Construction Contract" means, as applicable, either the contract between County and a Design-Builder for the design and construction of a Covered Project, or the contract with a prime contractor for the construction of a Covered Project.
- 1.6 "Contractor/Subcontractor/Employer" ("Employers") means the prime contractor and all subcontractors and owner operators of any tier, with respect to work performed within the scope of a Construction Contract. An Employer may bid for and be awarded work within the scope of Construction Contract for a Covered Project without regard as to whether the Employers are otherwise a party to any collective bargaining agreement.
- 1.7 "Core Employee" as used in this Agreement shall mean an employee whose name appeared on the Employer's active payroll for sixty (60) working days out of the last one hundred (100) working days immediately before the award of work within the scope of a Covered Contract to the Employer, who possesses any license and meets all standards required by state or federal law for the work to be performed; and who has the ability to safely perform the functions of the applicable trade; and who have worked at least two-thousand (2,000) hours in the construction craft in which they are employed during the prior four (4) years.
- 1.8 "County" means the County of Los Angeles and its Departments, Commissions and Agencies delivering the proposed Covered Projects.
- 1.9 "Covered Project" or "Covered Projects" means the scope of work designated by the Board as being subject to this Agreement for one of, all of, or a combination thereof of the following proposed construction projects, most of which have not yet been approved for construction by the Board:
 - 1.9.1 A proposed project to construct a Mental Health Treatment Center (formerly known as Consolidated Correctional Treatment Facility) to replace the Men's Central Jail in downtown Los Angeles, California.
 - 1.9.2 A proposed project to construct a Mira Loma Women's Detention Center in Lancaster, California.
 - 1.9.3 A proposed Harbor-UCLA Medical Center Master Plan Project in Torrance, California.
 - 1.9.4 A proposed King-Drew Reuse Project (Martin Luther King Jr. Medical Campus) in South Los Angeles, California.
 - 1.9.5 The following proposed Rancho Los Amigos South Campus projects, located in the City of Downey: the proposed Sheriff's Department Crime Lab Consolidation project; the proposed Probation Department Headquarters project; the proposed ISD Headquarters project; the proposed Sports Center project; and the proposed Infrastructure project.

- 1.10 Current Prevailing Wage Determination means the most recently adopted and published prevailing wage determination by the State of California, Department of Industrial Relations, in effect at the time the work is performed by each Employer.
- 1.11 "Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise" or "DVBE" shall mean: (1) A business which is certified by the State of California as a disabled veteran business enterprise; or (2) A business which is verified as a service-disabled veteran-owned small business by the Veterans Administration.
- 1.12 "Jobs Coordinator" means an individual or entity contracted or employed by an Employer to facilitate implementation of the Local and Targeted Hiring Requirements of this Agreement, in compliance with the County's LTWHP. The Employer must be able to demonstrate or otherwise document to the County's satisfaction that the Jobs Coordinator possesses the requisite qualifications and/or experience to fulfill these duties and responsibilities.
- 1.13 "Joint Administrative Committee" (JAC) means the committee established by Article 12 of this Agreement to review the implementation of this Agreement.
- 1.14 "Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Program" means a joint Union and Contractor administered apprenticeship program certified by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards, Department of Industrial Relations of the State of California.
- 1.15 "Letter of Assent" means the document which formally binds each Employer to adherence to all the forms, requirements and conditions of this Agreement that each Employer (of any tier) must sign and submit to the County's designated office and to the Council prior to beginning any work covered by this Agreement. The form Letter of Assent is attached as Attachment A.
- 1.16 "Local Small Business Enterprise" or "LSBE" shall mean a business which is certified by the State of California as a small business and has had its principal office located in Los Angeles County for at least one year.
- 1.17 "Master Labor Agreement" or "MLA" means the local collective bargaining agreements of the signatory Unions having jurisdiction over the work on the Project, as such may be changed from time-to-time, and which are incorporated herein and listed in Attachment B.
- 1.18 "Project Labor Coordinator" means the designee of the County, either from its own staff or an independent entity acting on behalf of the County, to monitor compliance with this Agreement and assist with developing and implementing the programs referenced herein, all of which are critical to fulfilling the intent and purposes of the Parties and this Agreement, and to otherwise implement and administer this Agreement.
- 1.19 "Qualifying Zip Code" means a zip code included in the County's Local and Targeted Worker Hiring Policy ("LTWHP") adopted by the Board. The Qualifying Zip Codes are listed as part of Attachment C.
- 1.20 "Social Enterprise" or "SE" means nonprofit or for-profit businesses whose primary purpose is the "common good" and which "use the methods and disciplines of business and the

power of the marketplace to advance their social, environmental and human justice agendas, wherein the organization that applies commercial strategies to maximize improvements in human and environmental well-being," that may "include maximizing social impact rather than profits for external shareholders," and has both: (1) been in operation for at least one (1) year providing transitional or permanent employment to a Transitional Workforce or providing social, environmental and/or human justice services; and (2) is certified by the County's Department of Consumer and Business Affairs ("DCBA") as a Social Enterprise.

- 1.21 "Subscription Agreement" means the contract between a Union's Labor Management Trust Funds and a Contractor that is not a party to a current collective bargaining agreement with a union signatory to this Agreement to document that Contractor's agreement to comply with the trust fund contribution requirements of the Letter of Assent described in Section 3.4., below. The Subscription Agreement cannot bind the Employer beyond the obligations set forth in this Agreement and is limited to work performed within the scope of the Construction Contracts.
 - 1.22 "Targeted Worker" means an individual whose principal residence is located within the County and who faces one (1) or more of the following barriers to employment:
 - (a) Has a documented annual income at or below 100 percent of the Federal Poverty Level;
 - (b) Has no high school diploma or GED;
 - (c) Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system;
 - (d) Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months);
 - (e) Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits;
 - (f) Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year;
 - (g) Is a custodial single parent;
 - (h) Is a former foster youth;
 - (i) Is a veteran, or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces, under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a]):
 - (j) Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker;
 - (k) Is currently an English language learner
 - (l) Is an older Individual (55+); or
 - (m) Is disabled.
 - (n) Is an individual with a low level of literacy.
- 1.23 "Tier 1 Local Resident" means a County resident whose primary residency is within a Qualifying Zip Code, which is within or partially within a five (5) mile radius of the site of the relevant proposed Covered Project. A list of the Tier 1 Local Resident Qualifying Zip Codes for each of the proposed Covered Projects is listed as part of Attachment C.
- 1.24 "Tier 2 Local Resident" means a County resident whose primary residency is within a Qualifying Zip Code, which does not qualify for inclusion as a Tier 1 Local Resident for the relevant proposed Covered Project. A list of the Tier 2 Local Resident Qualifying Zip Codes is listed as part of Attachment C.

- 1.25 Tier 1 Local Residents and Tier 2 Local Residents shall be collectively referred to as "Local Residents".
- 1.26 "Union" or "Unions" or "Signatory Unions" means the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council ("Council") affiliated with North America's Building Trades Unions (AFL/CIO), and the local unions and District Councils signing this Agreement, whose names are subscribed hereto and who have through their officers executed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 SCOPE OF AGREEMENT

- 2.1 Parties: Unless otherwise provided or limited herein, this Agreement shall only apply to the Employers performing work or agreeing to perform work pursuant to a Construction Contract for a Covered Project, the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council ("Council"), the District Councils and Local Unions signatory to this Agreement, who have through their officers executed this Agreement ("Signatory Unions") and the County of Los Angeles. The Council, the signatory Unions and the County shall hereinafter be referred to as the Parties.
- 2.2 Application of Agreement: This Agreement shall only apply to the work within the scope of a Construction Contract for a Covered Project, as defined in Sections 1.5 and 1.9 above, unless specifically excluded or limited in Section 2.3, below. This Agreement shall in no way limit the County's right to terminate, modify or rescind a Construction Contract and/or any related subcontract or agreement and the County has the sole discretion and right to combine, consolidate, cancel, terminate or take other action regarding any Construction Contracts or portions of any Construction Contracts. Should the County remove or terminate any Construction Contract and thereafter authorize that work be commenced or re-commenced, that Construction Contract shall be performed under the terms of this Agreement unless this Agreement has expired prior to the authorization to commence or re-commence such work.

2.3 Exclusions:

- 2.3.1 This Agreement shall not apply to any off-site maintenance of leased equipment and on-site supervision of such maintenance work.
- 2.3.2 This Agreement shall not apply to or impact in any way service contracts or operation or maintenance contracts entered into by the County including, but not limited to said contract relating to the Covered Projects, services provided at any County facility, building and/or the operation or maintenance of any County owned and operated facilities.
- 2.3.3 This Agreement shall not apply to the Employer's non-manual employees including, but not limited to, superintendents, assistant superintendents, supervisors, staff engineers, master mechanics, office engineers, time keepers, mail carriers, clerk, office workers, messengers, guards, safety personnel, emergency medical and first aid technicians or any other employee of the Employers above the rank of Craft Foreman, and other engineering, administrative, supervisory, and

management employees, including quality control and quality assurance management personnel to the extent they do not perform the work of a Building/Construction Inspector and/or Field Soils and Material Tester (Inspector), as covered by Section 2.3.6.

- 2.3.4 This Agreement shall not apply to material suppliers of raw materials, manufactured products, offsite hauling or delivery by any means of material, supplies, or equipment required to any point of delivery; provided, however, that lay down or storage areas for equipment or material and manufacturing (prefabrication) sites, dedicated solely to a Covered Project, and the movement of materials or goods between locations on a Covered Project site, are within the scope of this Agreement to the extent that those lay down or storage areas and prefabrication sites are for work within the scope of the Construction Contracts.
- Certain equipment and systems of a highly technical and specialized nature may have to be installed at the Project. The nature of such equipment and systems, together with requirements of manufacturer's warranty, may dictate that it be prefabricated, pre-piped, and/or pre-wired. The Unions agree to install such material, equipment and systems without incident, or allow such installation to be performed by the manufacturer's employees or a contractor designated by the manufacturer where the Unions are unable to perform such work or the warranty specifies that it may be void absent installation by the manufacturer or certified installation personnel of the manufacturer's authorized contractor or vendor (or the warranty explicitly requires such authorized and certified personnel to perform the installation) and no such authorized union contractor in the applicable trade has successfully bid the work, then such installation shall not be covered under this Agreement. The Prime Contractor shall notify the Unions at the pre-job conference of the use of this provision and shall provide copies of the written warranty that require that the work be performed by the manufacturer's own personnel or a contractor certified by the manufacturer, to the affected Union. When the warranty does not require installation by the manufacturer's own personnel or a contractor certified by the manufacturer, the Unions agree to perform and install such work under the supervision and direction of the manufacturer's representative.
- 2.3.6 This Agreement shall not apply to any employees of the County, design teams (including, but not limited to architects, engineers, master planners), or any other consultants directly contracted by the County (including, but not limited to, project managers, construction managers, inspectors and their employees and their sub-consultants, and other employees of professional service organizations). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this exclusion shall not apply to the classifications of Surveyors and/or Building/Construction Inspector and/or Field Soils and Material Testers (Inspectors) unless they are County employees. This inclusion applies to the scope of work defined in the State of California Wage Determination for that Craft. This shall also specifically include such work where it is referred to by utilization of such terms as "quality control" or "quality assurance." Every Inspector performing under these classifications on Covered Projects pursuant to a professional services agreement, a contract directly with the

County or a contract with a Contractor shall be bound to all applicable requirements of this Agreement. Covered work as defined by this agreement shall be performed pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement regardless of the manner in which the work was awarded.

2.4 County and/or the Employers, as appropriate, have the absolute right to award the Construction Contracts under this Agreement to any Employer notwithstanding the existence or non-existence of any agreements between such Employer and any Union parties, provided only that such Employer is ready, willing and able to execute and comply with this Agreement should such Employer be awarded work under a Construction Contract for a Covered Project.

ARTICLE 3 EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1 By executing this Agreement, the Unions and the County agree to be bound by each and every provision of this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement, including the Master Labor Agreements, shall only apply to the work within the scope of the Construction Contracts for the Covered Projects. The provisions of this Agreement and the Master Labor Agreements (which are the local collective bargaining agreements of the signatory Unions having jurisdiction over the work on the Project, as such may be changed from time-to-time and which are incorporated herein as Attachment B) shall only apply to the work within the scope of the Construction Contracts for the Covered Projects. To the extent that the provisions of this Agreement are inconsistent with the applicable Master Labor Agreements, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail, notwithstanding the provisions of any other local, area and/or national agreement which may conflict with or differ from the terms of this Agreement. However, such does not apply to work performed under the National Cooling Tower Agreement, the National Stack Agreement, the National Transit Division Agreement (NTD), or within the jurisdiction of the International Union of Elevator Constructors and all instrument calibration and loop checking work performed under the terms of the UA/IBEW Joint National Agreement for Instrument and Control Systems Technicians except that Articles dealing with Work Stoppages and Lock-Outs, Work Assignments and Jurisdictional Disputes, and Settlement of Grievances and Disputes shall apply to such work.
- 3.2 It is specifically agreed that no later agreement shall be deemed to have precedence over this Agreement unless signed by all Parties signatory hereto who are then currently employed or represented at the Project. Where a subject covered by the provisions of this Agreement is also covered by a Master Labor Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply. Where a subject is covered by a provision of a Master Labor Agreement and not covered by this Agreement, the provisions of the Master Labor Agreement shall prevail. Any dispute as to the applicable source between this Agreement and any Master Labor Agreement for determining the wages, hours of working conditions of employees on this Project shall be resolved under the procedures established in Article 11.
- 3.3 It is understood that this Agreement constitutes a self-contained, stand-alone agreement and that, by virtue of having become bound to this Agreement, the Employer will not be obligated to sign any local, area or national collective bargaining agreement as a condition of performing work within the scope of this Agreement, except as provided in Section 3.4, below.

- It is agreed that all Employers of whatever tier, who have accepted the award of 3.4 work within the scope of a Construction Contract, shall be required to accept and be bound to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and shall evidence their acceptance by the execution of the Letter of Assent as set forth in Attachment A hereto, prior to the commencement of work. At the time that any Employer enters into a subcontract with any subcontractor of any tier providing for the performance of work within the scope of a Construction Contract, the Employer shall provide a copy of this Agreement to said subcontractor and shall require the subcontractor, as a part of accepting the award of a construction subcontract, to agree in writing in the form of a Letter of Assent to be bound by each and every provision of this Agreement prior to the commencement of work on the project. No Employer shall commence work within the scope of a Construction Contract without having first provided a copy of the Letter of Assent as executed by it to the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council, 48 hours before the commencement of such work, or within 48 hours after the award of such work to that Employer, whichever occurs later. Further, Employers not signatory to the established Joint Labor/Management Trust Fund Agreements, as described in the MLA(s) for the craft workers in their employ, shall sign a Subscription Agreement with the appropriate Joint Labor/Management Trust Funds covering the work performed under this Agreement before such work is commenced. It shall be the responsibility of the prime contractor to have each of its subcontractors sign such Subscription Agreement with the appropriate Union prior to the subcontractor beginning work performed under this Agreement. The Subscription Agreement shall not bind the Employer beyond the terms and conditions of this Agreement and must be limited to work performed within the scope of a Covered Contract for a Covered Project.
- 3.5 This Agreement shall be binding on the signatory Employers hereto only and shall not apply to the parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, or other ventures of any such party or any other contract for construction or project to which this Agreement does not apply.
- 3.6 This Agreement shall be included as a general condition of the Construction Contract for each of the Covered Projects.

ARTICLE 4 WORK STOPPAGES AND LOCKOUTS

- 4.1 There shall be no strikes, sympathy strikes, picketing, work stoppages, slowdowns, sickouts, handbilling or other disruptive activity for any reason (including but not limited to disputes relating to the negotiation or renegotiation of applicable MLAs, economic strikes, unfair labor practice strikes, safety strikes, sympathy strikes, and jurisdictional strikes or disputes) by the Union, or by any employee, and there shall be no lockout by the Contractor. Failure of any Union or employee to cross any picket line established at the Project site is a violation of this Article.
- 4.2 The Union shall not sanction, aid or abet, encourage or continue any work stoppage, strike, picketing or other disruptive activity at the Covered Project site and shall undertake all reasonable means to prevent or to terminate any such activity. No employee shall engage in activities which violate this Article. Any employee who participates in or encourages any activities which interfere with the normal operation of the Project shall be subject to disciplinary action, including discharge, and if justifiably discharged for the above reasons, shall not be eligible for rehire on the project. If any union is notified of any offsite work stoppage, strike, picketing or

other disruptive activity by the Union that will economically and/or materially affect the completion of the Project, the Union will promptly make good faith efforts to cease such Project work disruption

- 4.3 The Union shall not be liable for independent acts of employees for whom it has no responsibility. The principal officer or officers of a Union will immediately instruct, order and use their best efforts of their office to cause the employees they represent to cease any violations of this Article. A Union complying with this obligation within two business days of its knowledge of or receipt of notice of such independent acts of employees shall not be liable for unauthorized acts of employees it represents. The failure of the Employer to exercise its right in any instance shall not be deemed a waiver of its right in any other instance.
- 4.4 If an MLA, local, regional, and other applicable labor agreements expire during the term of this Agreement, it is specifically agreed that there shall be no strike, sympathy strike, picketing, lockout, slowdown, withholding of work, refusal to work, walk-off, sick-out, sit-down, stand-in, wobble, boycott or other work stoppage, disruption, advising of the public that a labor dispute exists, or other impairment of any kind as a result of the expiration of any local, regional or other applicable labor agreement having application at any Covered Project and/or failure of the parties to that agreement to reach a new contract. Otherwise to the extent that such a local, regional, or other applicable labor agreement does expire and the parties to that agreement have failed to reach agreement on a new contract, work will continue on the Project on one of the following two bases, both of which will be offered by the Unions involved to the Employers affected:
 - 4.4.1 Each of the Unions with a contract expiring must offer to continue working on the Project under interim agreements that retain all the terms of the expiring contract, except that the Unions involved in such expiring contracts may each propose wage rates and employer contribution rates to employee benefit funds different from what those wage rates and employer contributions rates were under the expiring contracts. The terms of the Union's interim agreement offered to Employers will be no less favorable to the Employer than the terms offered by the Union to any other employer or group of employers covering the same type of construction work in Los Angeles County.
 - 4.4.2 Each of the Unions with a contract expiring must offer to continue working on the Project under all the terms of the expiring contract, including the wage rates and employer contribution rates to the employee benefit funds if the Employers affected by that contract agree to the following retroactivity provisions: if a new MLA for the union having jurisdiction at the Project is ratified and if such new MLA provides for retroactive wage or fringe benefit contribution increases, then each affected Employer shall pay to its employees (and the respective trust funds for hours worked by employees) who performed work covered by the Agreement at the Project during the hiatus between the effective dates of such labor agreements, an amount equal to any such retroactive wage increase established by such new labor agreement, retroactive to whatever date is provided by the new local, regional or other applicable agreement for such increase to go into effect, for each employee's hours worked on the Project during the retroactive period. All parties agree that such affected Employer shall be solely responsible for any

retroactive payment to its employees and that neither the County nor any other Employer has any obligation, responsibility or liability whatsoever for any such retroactive payments or collection of any such retroactive payments, from any such Employer.

- 4.4.3 Some Employers may elect to continue to work on the Project under the terms of the interim agreement option offered under 4.4.1 above and other Employers may elect to continue to work on the Project under the retroactivity option offered under 4.4.2 above. To decide between the two options, Employers will be given one (1) week after the particular MLA has expired or one week after the Union has personally delivered to the Employer in writing its specific offer of terms of the interim agreement pursuant to 4.4.1 above, whichever is the later date. If the Employer fails to timely select one of the two options, the Employer shall be deemed to have selected the option of 4.4.2.
- 4.5 Expedited arbitration will be utilized for all grievances alleging violations of this Article. In lieu of or in addition to any other action at law or equity, any party, including the County, Prime Contractor and the Project Labor Coordinator, may institute the following procedure when a breach or violation of this Article is alleged to have occurred:
 - 4.5.1 If the County or Employer contends that any Union has violated this Article, it will serve written notification upon the Business Manager of the Union(s) involved, advising him of the fact, with copies of such notice to the Prime Contractor, and the Project Labor Coordinator. The Business Manager(s) will immediately instruct, order and use the best efforts of her or his office to cause any violation of this Article to cease.
 - 4.5.2 If the County or Union contends that any Employer has violated this Article, it will notify the Employer, Prime Contractor, and the Project Labor Coordinator, setting forth the facts which the Union contends violates this Article, at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to invoking the expedited arbitration procedures contained in this Article. It is agreed by the parties that the term "lockout" for purposes of this Agreement does not include discharge, termination or layoff of employees by the Employer in the normal course of its business, nor does it include the Employer's decision to terminate or suspend work on the Project or any portion thereof for operational or special circumstances.
 - 4.5.3 The party invoking this procedure shall notify the Project Labor Coordinator to select the permanent arbitrator next in sequence from the following list:
 - 1. Louis Zigman
 - 2. John Kagel
 - 3. Walter Daugherty
 - 4. Sara Adler
 - 5. Joseph Gentile

- 6. Michael Rappaport
- 7. Fred Horowitz

The Parties agree these shall be the seven permanent Arbitrators under this procedure. In the event that none of the seven permanent Arbitrators are available for a hearing within 24 hours, the party invoking the procedure shall have the option of delaying until one of the seven permanent Arbitrators is available. If any of the permanent Arbitrators ask to be relieved from their status as a permanent Arbitrator, the Project Labor Coordinator will select a new permanent Arbitrator from the following list of arbitrators:

- 1. Charles Askin
- 2. Phil Tamoush
- 3. Thomas Pagan

Expenses incurred in arbitration shall be borne equally by the Union and the Employer involved and the decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on both Parties, provided, however, that the Arbitrator shall not have the authority to alter or amend or add to or delete from the provisions of this Agreement in any way. Notice to the Arbitrator shall be by the most expeditious means available, including by telephone and by facsimile or telegram to the party alleged to be in violation, to the Council, to the Project Labor Coordinator, and to the involved Union if a Union is alleged to be in violation.

- Upon receipt of said notice, the Arbitrator shall convene a hearing 4.5.4 within twenty-four (24) hours if it is contended that the violation still exists. The Arbitrator, with assistance from the Project Labor Coordinator, shall notify the Parties by telephone and by facsimile or email of the place and time for the hearing. Notice shall be given to the individual Union(s) and contractor(s) alleged to be involved and to the Council. Said hearing shall be completed in one session, which, with appropriate recesses at the Arbitrator's discretion, shall not exceed twentyfour (24) hours unless otherwise agreed upon by all Parties. A failure of any party to attend said hearings shall not delay the hearing of evidence or the issuance of any decision by the Arbitrator. The sole issue at the hearing shall be whether or not a violation of Section 4.1 or 4.2 of this Article has in fact occurred. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to consider any matter of justification, explanation or mitigation of such violation. The decision shall be issued in writing within three (3) hours after the close of the hearing and may be issued without a written opinion. If any party desires a written opinion, one shall be issued within fifteen (15) days, but its issuance shall not delay compliance with or enforcement of the decision.
- 4.5.5 The Arbitrator may order cessation of the violation of this Article and other appropriate relief and such decision shall be served on all Parties and on the Project Labor Coordinator by hand or registered mail upon issuance. If the arbitrator determines that a violation of this Article has occurred, the respondent Unions(s) shall, within eight (8) hours of receipt of the award, direct all the employees they represent on the project to immediately return to work. If the

craft(s) involved does not return to work by the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift following such eight (8) hour period after receipt of the arbitrator's award, and the respondent Union(s) have not complied with their obligation to immediately instruct, order, and use their best efforts to cause a cessation of the violation and return of the employees they represent to work, then the respondent Union(s) shall each pay a sum as liquidated damages to the affected contractor, and each shall pay an additional sum per shift for each shift thereafter on which the craft(s) has not returned to work. Similarly, if the arbitrator determines that a lockout has occurred, the respondent Contractor(s) shall, within eight (8) hours of receipt of the award, return all the affected employees to work on the Project, or otherwise correct the violation as found by the Arbitrator. If the respondent Contractor(s) do not take such action by the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift following the eight (8) hour period, each respondent Contractor shall pay a sum as liquidated damages to the affected Union(s) (to be apportioned among the affected employees and the benefit funds to which contributions are made on their behalf, as appropriate and designated by the Arbitrator) and each shall pay an additional sum per shift for each shift thereafter in which compliance by the respondent Contractor(s) has not been completed. The Arbitrator shall retain jurisdiction to determine compliance with this Section and to establish the appropriate sum of liquidated damages, which shall not be less than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) per shift, nor more than twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000) per shift.

- 4.5.6 Such decision may be enforced by any Court of competent jurisdiction upon the filing of this Agreement and all other relevant documents referred to above in the following manner. Written notice of the filing of such enforcement proceedings shall be given to the other party and to the Project Labor Coordinator. The Project Labor Coordinator shall not be named as a party or real party in interest in any such action. In the proceeding to obtain a temporary order enforcing the Arbitrator's decision as issued under this Article, all Parties waive the right to a hearing and agree that such proceedings may be ex parte. Such agreement does not waive any party's right to participate in a hearing for a final order of enforcement. The Court's order or orders enforcing the Arbitrator's decision shall be served on all Parties and on the Project Labor Coordinator by hand or delivered by registered mail.
- 4.5.7 Any rights created by statute or law governing arbitration proceedings inconsistent with the above procedure or which interfere with compliance therewith are hereby waived by the Parties to whom they accrue.
- 4.5.8 The fees and expenses incurred in arbitration shall be divided equally by the Parties to the arbitration, including Union(s) and the Employer(s) involved.
- 4.6 The procedures contained in this Article shall be applicable to alleged violations of Article 4 to the extent any conduct described in Section 4.1 or 4.2 occurs on the Project. Disputes alleging violation of any other provision of this Agreement, including any underlying disputes

alleged to be in justification, explanation, or mitigation of any violation of Section 4.1 or Article 4 shall be resolved under the applicable grievance adjudication procedures for these other Articles.

- 4.7 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, it shall not be a violation of this Agreement for any Union to withhold the services of its members (but not the right to picket) from a particular Employer who:
 - 4.7.1 fails to timely pay its weekly payroll; or
 - 4.7.2 fails to make timely payments to the Union's Joint Labor/Management Trust Funds in accordance with the provisions of the applicable MLA.
 - 4.7.3 Prior to withholding its members' services for the Employer's failure to meet its weekly payroll, the Union shall give at least five (5) calendar days written notice of such failure to pay by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and by facsimile or email transmission to the involved Employer, prime contractor and Project Labor Coordinator. The Union will offer to meet within a three (3) working day period, after the written notice of such failure to pay was sent, to attempt to resolve the dispute with the applicable Employers, prime contractor and the Project Labor Coordinator. Upon the payment of the delinquent Employer of all monies due and then owing for wages, the Union shall direct its members to return to work and the Contractor shall return all such members back to work.
 - 4.7.4 Prior to withholding its members' services for the Employer's failure to make timely payments to the Union's Labor/Management Trust Funds, the Union shall give at least thirty (30) days written notice of such failure to pay by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and by facsimile or email transmission to the involved Contractor, the Prime Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator. The Union, Employer, Prime Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator will meet within ten (10) calendar days following receipt of the written notice to attempt to resolve the dispute. Upon payment by the delinquent Employer of all monies due and then owing for wages and/or fringe benefit contributions, the Union shall direct its members to return to work and the Employer shall return all such members back to work.

ARTICLE 5 NO DISCRIMINATION OR HARASSMENT

5.1 This Article is intended to preserve the dignity and professionalism of the workplace and construction site as well as protect the right of employees to be free from discrimination, unlawful harassment, retaliation and inappropriate conduct toward others based on a protected status. Discrimination, unlawful harassment, retaliation and inappropriate conduct toward others based on a protected status, are contrary to the values of the County, Employers and the Unions. The County, Employers and the Unions will not tolerate unlawful discrimination on the basis of sex, race, color, ancestry, religion, national origin, ethnicity, age (40 and over), disability, sexual orientation, marital status, medical condition or any other protected characteristic protected by

state or federal employment law, nor will it tolerate unlawful harassment, or retaliation. All Employers and employees are responsible for conducting themselves in accordance with this Article. Any employee proven to be in violation of this Article is subject to immediate removal from the workplace and construction site.

- 5.2 The Parties agree not to engage in any form of unlawful discrimination or harassment of any kind on the grounds of, or because of, race, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, age, physical handicap, marital status, medical condition, political affiliation, or membership in a labor organization in hiring and dispatching workers for the project.
- 5.3 Any employee covered by this Agreement which believes that she or he has been discriminated against or harassed, in violation of section 5.1 above, shall be referred to the appropriate state and/or federal agency for the resolution of such dispute.

ARTICLE 6 UNION SECURITY

- 6.1 The Employers recognize the Unions as the sole and exclusive bargaining representatives of all craft employees working within the scope of this Agreement.
- 6.2 No employee covered by this Agreement shall be required to join any Union as a condition of being employed, or remaining employed, for the completion of the work on a Covered Project. The Employer shall, however, require all employees performing work within the scope of a Construction Contract on a Covered Project, for a cumulative total of eight (8) working days or more, to comply with the applicable Union's security provisions for the period during which they are performing on-site work to the extent, as permitted by law, of rendering payment of an amount equal to the applicable monthly dues and any working dues only, as uniformly required of all craft employees while working on the Covered Project and represented by the applicable signatory unions. However, any employee who is a member of a Union at the time the referring Union refers the employee, shall maintain that membership in good standing while employed on the Construction Contract.

ARTICLE 7 REFERRAL

7.1 The Employers recognize the Unions as the primary source of all craft labor employed on the Construction Contract for the Covered Projects. For Signatory Unions now having a job referral system contained in a MLA, the Employer agrees to comply with such system and it shall be used exclusively by such Employer, except as modified by this Agreement. Such job referral system will be operated in a nondiscriminatory manner and in full compliance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations which require equal employment opportunities and non-discrimination. All of the foregoing hiring procedures, including related practices affecting apprenticeship, shall be operated so as to consider the policies and requirements of the County to encourage employment of Local Resident and Targeted Workers and utilization of LSBE, DVBE and SBE's on the Project, and to facilitate the ability of all Employers to meet their employment needs.

- 7.2 The Employer shall have the right to determine the competency of all employees, including the determination that prospective employees meet the qualifications established by the County for employment, the number of employees required, the duties of such employees within their craft jurisdiction, and shall have the sole responsibility for selecting employees to be laid off, all of which shall not be inconsistent with this Agreement and the applicable MLA. The Employer shall also have the right to reject any applicant referred by a Union, subject to the required payment of show-up pay, for any non-discriminatory reason; provided further that such right is exercised in good faith and not for the purpose of avoiding the Employer's commitment to employ qualified workers through the procedures endorsed in this Agreement.
- 7.3 The Unions will exert and document their efforts to recruit and refer sufficient numbers of skilled craft workers to fulfill the labor requirements of the Employer, including specific employment obligations to which the Employer may be legally and/or contractually obligated; and to refer apprentices as requested to develop a larger, skilled workforce. The Unions will work with their affiliated regional and national unions, and jointly with the Project Labor Coordinator and others designated by the County or the Council, to identify and refer competent craftpersons as needed for work on Covered Projects, and to identify individuals, particularly Local Residents and Targeted Workers, for entrance into Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Programs, or participation in pre-apprenticeship programs agreed to by the County and Council and procedures to assist individuals with qualifying and becoming eligible for such apprenticeship programs, all maintained to increase the available supply of skilled craft personnel for Covered Projects. The Union shall not knowingly refer an employee currently employed by an Employer on Project Work to any other Employer.
- 7.4 In recognition of the County's commitment to serve the community and the fact that the community in which the Covered Projects are located will be impacted by the construction activities, the Parties agree to support the development and employment of increased numbers of construction workers from among the Local Residents and Targeted Workers of the County. With the assistance of the Unions as specified in Section 7.5, the Employer is responsible for ensuring compliance with the Local and Targeted Worker Hire Policy for the Projects to achieve the following required levels of participation:
 - 7.4.1 At least thirty (30) percent of total California Construction Labor Hours worked on each project must be performed by qualified Local Residents in the priority specified by Section 7.5.
 - 7.4.2 At least ten (10) percent of total California Construction Labor Hours worked on each project shall be performed by Targeted Workers. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Local Resident may also be applied towards the 30 percent Local Resident hire goal specified in Section 7.4.1.
 - 7.4.3 Employers shall hire apprentices for the performance of work within the scope of the Covered Contracts. A minimum of twenty (20) percent of the California Construction Labor Hours worked on the Project by workers from each craft Union shall be worked by apprentices, unless a craft Union or their apprenticeship committee shall have received an exemption from the use of apprentices by the State Division of Apprenticeship Standards. If the apprenticeship

standards of the apprenticeship program establish a higher maximum percentage, Employers may use such approved higher percentage of apprentices for work within the scope of the Construction Contracts.

- 7.4.4 Fifty (50) percent of the California Construction Labor Hours performed by apprentices shall be performed by Local Residents and Targeted Workers.
- 7.5 The Unions agree that, to the maximum extent allowed by law, and as long as they possess the requisite skills, and qualifications, the Unions shall follow the referral and recruitment procedures required by this Agreement to provide a sufficient number of skilled craft Local Residents, Targeted Workers, Apprentices and Skilled Journeypersons, as requested by the Employers, to fulfill the requirements of the Employers. Towards that end, the Unions agree that upon receiving a completed Craft Employee Request Form from an Employer, the Unions shall follow the procedures required by this Agreement to provide referrals and utilization of qualified workers as follows:
 - 7.5.1 First, qualified Tier 1 Local Residents as well as Targeted Workers requested by the Craft Employee Request Form;
 - 7.5.2 If the Unions cannot provide the Employers in the attainment of a sufficient number of qualified workers from paragraph 7.5.1 then the Union shall certify to the Project Labor Coordinators in the manner specified on the Craft Employee Request Form that all reasonable efforts to recruit Tier 1 Local Residents have been exhausted. Thereafter, the Unions shall recruit and identify for referral qualified Tier 2 Local Residents and Targeted Workers as requested by the Craft Employee Request Form;
 - 7.5.3 If the Unions still have not provided the Employers with the attainment of a sufficient number of qualified Local Residents and Targeted Workers from their efforts in compliance with Sections 7.5.1 and 7.5.2, the Unions shall recruit and identify for referral qualified residents from the remaining U.S. Postal zip codes for the County. The Council will work with their affiliated joint labor management apprenticeship programs, the affected Employer(s), the County Project Labor Coordinator and the Jobs Coordinator to indenture a sufficient number of Local Residents and Targeted Workers as new apprentices and/or journeymen in accordance with this Agreement. In such cases, if the initiation and enrollment fees present a barrier to a potential Local Resident or Targeted Worker, then the Council and the Unions, along with the Project Labor Coordinator and the Jobs Coordinator, will assist in working with Work Source Centers and other similar organizations to secure such funds. Concurrently, the Unions shall recruit and identify for referral qualified workers residing within the remainder of the County to ensure continuous work and an uninterrupted supply of craft labor to the Covered Projects.

- 7.5.4 Hours worked by residents of states other than California shall not be included in the calculation of total hours of total California Construction Labor Hours for purposes of the percentage requirements set forth above.
- 7.6 To facilitate the dispatch of Local Residents, Targeted Workers, Apprentices and Skilled Journeypersons, all Employers will be required to utilize the Craft Employee Request Form whenever they are requesting the referral of any employee from a Union referral list for any Covered Project, samples of which are attached as Attachment C. When Local Residents and Targeted Workers are requested by the Employers, the Unions will refer such workers regardless of their place on the Unions' hiring halls' list and normal referral procedures. The Employers and Unions agree to maintain copies of all Craft Employee Request Forms used on the Covered Projects submitted or received including transmission verification reports that are date/time imprinted, until the Employers work on the project is complete. The Unions also agree to provide to the Project Labor Coordinator copies of any Craft Employee Request Forms wherein the Union has certified that all reasonable efforts to recruit Tier 1 Local Residents have been exhausted. The Employer shall copy the Project Labor Coordinator on all Craft Employee Request Forms at the time they are sent to the Union.
- 7.7 Local Residents and Targeted Workers may be referred to the Unions from the Project Labor Coordinator or Jobs Coordinator. For any applicant to qualify as a Targeted Worker, the Project Labor Coordinator shall verify the presence of the criteria listed in Attachment F and shall pre-screen and/or pre-qualify any Targeted Worker applicant prior to referral to the Unions.
 - 7.8 Skilled and Trained Workforce Requirements
 - 7.8.1 This requirement shall apply to all occupations performing work pursuant to a Construction Contract, which is an "Apprenticeable occupation" as defined below, which is in conformance with California Public Contract Code section 2601(a).
 - 7.8.2 For the application of this Section 7.8, the following definitions shall apply:
 - (a) "Apprenticeable occupation" means an occupation for which the Chief of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards of the Department of Industrial Relations had approved an apprenticeship program pursuant to Section 3075 of the Labor Code before January 1, 2014.
 - (b) "Chief" means the Chief of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards of the Department of Industrial Relations.
 - (c) "Graduate of an apprenticeship program" means either of the following:
 (1) An individual that has been issued a certificate of completion under the authority of the California Apprenticeship Council for completing an apprenticeship program approved by the Chief; or (2) An individual that has completed an apprenticeship program located outside California

- and approved for federal purposes pursuant to the apprenticeship regulations adopted by the federal Secretary of Labor.
- "Skilled and trained workforce" means a workforce that meets all of the following conditions: (1) All the workers performing work in an Apprenticeable occupation in the building and construction trades are either Skilled Journeypersons or apprentices registered in an apprenticeship program approved by the Chief; and (2) At least sixty (60) percent of the Skilled Journeypersons employed to perform work within the scope of a Construction Contract by every contractor and each of its subcontractors at every tier are graduates of an apprenticeship program for the applicable occupation. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 2601, this Section 7.8 shall not apply to work performed in the following occupations: acoustical installer, bricklayer, carpenter, cement mason, drywall installer or lather, marble mason, finisher, or setter, modular furniture or systems installer, operating engineer, pile driver, plasterer, roofer or waterproofer, stone mason, surveyor, teamster, terrazzo worker or finisher, and tile layer, setter, or finisher. Further, for an apprenticeable occupation in which no apprenticeship program had been approved by the Chief before January 1, 1995, up to one-half of the graduation percentage requirements may be satisfied by Skilled Journeypersons who commenced working in the Apprenticeable occupation before the Chief's approval of an apprenticeship program for that occupation in the County.
- (e) "Skilled Journeyperson" means a worker who either: (1) Graduated from an apprenticeship program for the applicable occupation that was approved by the Chief or which was located outside California and approved for federal purposes pursuant to the apprenticeship regulations adopted by the federal Secretary of Labor; or (2) Has at least as many hours of on-the-job experience in the applicable occupation as would be required to graduate from an apprenticeship program for the applicable occupation that is approved by the Chief.
- 7.8.3 The apprenticeship graduation percentage requirements, above, are satisfied if, in a particular calendar month, either of the following is true: (1) At least the required percentage of the skilled Journeypersons employed by the contractor or subcontractor to perform work within the scope of the Covered Contract meets or is projected to meet the graduation percentage requirement; or (2) For the hours of work performed by Skilled Journeypersons employed by the contractor or subcontractor, the percentage of hours performed by Skilled Journeypersons who met the graduation requirement is at least equal to the required graduation percentage.
- 7.8.4 The contractor or subcontractor need not meet the apprenticeship graduation requirements of paragraph of this Section 7.8 if, during the calendar

month, the contractor or subcontractor employs Skilled Journeypersons to perform fewer than 10 hours of work within the scope of the Construction Contract.

- 7.8.5 A subcontractor need not meet the apprenticeship graduation requirements specified in this Section 7.8 if both of the following requirements are met: (1) The subcontractor was not required to be a listed subcontractor under Public Contract Code section 4104 or was not a substitute for a listed subcontractor; and (2) The subcontract does not exceed one-half of 1 percent of the price of the prime contract.
- 7.8.6 The Unions will provide all relevant available data to assist the Employer in preparing a monthly report to the County, demonstrating compliance with this Section 7.8.
- 7.8.7 The Parties recognize and agree that, pursuant to State law, if an Employer fails to provide the monthly report required by this Section 7.8, or provides a report that is incomplete, the County or other awarding body shall withhold further payments from that Employer until a complete report is provided.
- 7.8.8 The parties recognize and agree that, pursuant to State law, if a monthly report does not demonstrate compliance with this Section 7.8, the County shall withhold further payments from that Employer until that Employer provides a plan to achieve substantial compliance with this Section 7.8, with respect to the relevant Apprenticeable occupation, prior to completion of the Covered Contract. The Unions will assist the Employers with the development and implementation of this plan to achieve substantial compliance.

7.9 Core Workforce

The parties recognize the County's interest in promoting competition and inclusion of Local Small Business Enterprise (LSBE), Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise (DVBE) and Social Enterprise (SE), which may not be signatory to a current MLA. In order to promote participation and attract certified LSBEs/DVBEs/SEs to work under this Agreement, any Employer that has been certified as an LSBE, DBVE or SE may first employ three (3) of its core employees prior to employing an employee through the appropriate Union hiring hall. The next (fourth) employee shall be hired from the appropriate union hiring hall and thereafter, such Employer may employ, as needed, two (2) additional core employees in the alternating manner provided in Section 7.9.2. Thereafter all additional employees in the affected trade or craft shall be requested and referred from the appropriate Union hiring hall. This Section 7.9.1 shall also apply to companies employing Building/Construction Inspectors and/or Field Soils and Material Testers (Inspectors) which are not directly signatory to a current MLA and who are providing Inspectors on a Covered Project through a contract directly with the County, whether or not that company is an LSBE, DBVE and SE.

- 7.9.2 Employers who are not certified as LSBE, DVBE or SE, and who are not otherwise signatory to a current MLA, may employ, as needed, first, a Core Employee, then an employee through a referral from the appropriate Union hiring hall, then a second Core Employee, then a second employee through the referral system, and so on until a maximum of five (5) Core Employees are employed, thereafter, all additional employees in the affected trade or craft shall be requested and referred from the appropriate Union hiring hall in accordance with this Article.
- 7.9.3 Except for certified LSBE, DVBE and SE, and Local Residents or Targeted Workers, in the laying off of employees, the number of Core Employees shall not exceed one-half plus one of the workforce for an Employer with ten (10) or fewer employees, assuming the remaining employees are qualified to undertake the work available.
- 7.9.4 Section 7.9 only applies to Employers who are not directly signatory to a current MLA for the craft worker in its employ and is not intended to limit the transfer provisions of the MLA of any trade. As part of this process, and in order to facilitate the contract administration procedures, as well as appropriate fringe benefit fund coverage, all Employers shall require their Core Employees and any other persons employed other than through the referral process, to register with the appropriate Union hiring hall, if any, prior to their first day of employment working under the Construction Contract at the project site.
- 7.9.5 Prior to each Employer performing any work on a Covered Project, each Employer shall provide a list of his Core Employees to the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council. Failure to do so will prohibit the Employer from using any Core Employees for 30 calendar days after the list is provided. Upon request by any Party to this Agreement, the Employer hiring any Core Employee shall provide satisfactory proof (i.e., payroll records, quarterly tax records and such other documentation) evidencing the Core Employee's qualification as a Core Employee to the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council.
- 7.10 In the event that the referral facilities maintained by the Unions are unable to fill the requisition of an Employer for specific classifications of covered classifications requested by any Employer within forty-eight (48) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) after having provided a fully completed Craft Employee Request Form to the Union, that Employer may use employment sources other than the union registration and referral services, and may employ any qualified applicants meeting such standards from any other available source. The Employer shall inform the Union of any applicants hired from such other sources within 48 hours of such applicant being hired, and such applicants shall immediately register with the appropriate hiring hall, if any.
 - 7.10.1 In the event that an Employer requests one or more Local Residents or Targeted Workers from the Union hiring hall, and the Union is unable to fill such request for a Local Resident or a Targeted Worker within a forty-eight (48) hour period after such requisition is made by the Employer (Saturday, Sundays and holidays excepted), the Employer shall have five (5)

22

business days to obtain the requested number of Local Residents or Targeted Workers, as requested in the Craft Employee Request Form, from any source. If the Employer is unable to hire the requested number of Local Residents or a Targeted Workers within such five (5) business days, Employer shall hire the remaining unfulfilled number of employees from the Union hiring hall. The Employer shall inform the Union of any applicants hired from such other sources within 48 hours of such applicant being hired, and such applicants shall immediately register with the appropriate hiring hall, if any.

- 7.10.2 Each Employer and Union must document all efforts made to comply with the hiring process to locate and hire Local Residents and Targeted Workers.
- 7.10.3 No Local Resident or Targeted Worker, having been pre-screened and/or pre-qualified by the Project Labor Coordinator, and employed by an Employer to work on a Covered Project, shall be required to participate in any Joint Labor/Management ("boot camp") or pre-apprentice program that will unnecessarily delay the Local Resident or Targeted Workers' state of work or cause said worker's termination due to having to participate in such "boot camps" or pre-apprentice programs.
- 7.10.4 The Project Labor Coordinator and Unions shall track retention of apprentices hired under the procedures described in Article 19 through completion of work on a Covered Project. The Project Labor Coordinator will work with the Unions and Employers to collect the tracking information and shall submit quarterly retention reports in accordance with the Local and Targeted Worker Hire Policy.
- 7.10.5 All Apprentices shall work under the direct supervision of a Skilled Journeyperson from the trade in which the Apprentice is indentured. A Skilled Journeyperson shall be defined as set forth in Section 7.8.2, above. The Employer shall provide adequate proof evidencing the worker's qualifications as a Skilled Journeyperson.

7.11 Helmets to Hardhats:

7.11.1 The Employers and the Unions recognize a desire to facilitate the entry into the building and construction trades of veterans, including female veterans, who are interested in careers in the building and construction trades industry. The Employers and Unions agree to utilize the services of the Center for Military Recruitment, Assessment and Veterans Employment (hereinafter "Center") and the Center's "Helmets to Hardhats" Program to serve as a resource for preliminary orientation, assessment of the construction aptitude, referral to apprenticeship programs or hiring halls, counseling and mentoring, support network, employment opportunities and other needs as identified by the Parties.

- 7.11.2 The Unions and Employers agree to coordinate with the Center to reach out to veterans, including women, interested in entering into a construction career.
- 7.11.3 The Unions will assist in providing relevant records and Employers agree to maintain records of all efforts to assist Helmets to Hardhats employment candidates gain employment on the Covered Project(s). Such records shall include, but not be limited to, documentation of the number of Helmets to Hardhats employment candidates contacted and/or employed and/or indentured into an apprenticeship program or referred to a Union for assessment, including the number of such female candidates. Such records must be submitted to the Project Labor Coordinators at least quarterly for inclusion in the County's quarterly Local and Targeted Hire Policy report.
- 7.11.4 Any Helmets to Hardhats employment candidate for work on Covered Projects shall be given credit by the Union for any provable past experience and training.

ARTICLE 8 WAGES AND BENEFITS

- 8.1 All employees covered by this Agreement shall be classified in accordance with work performed and paid by the Employer at the hourly wage rates for those classifications in compliance with the Current Prevailing Wage Determination.
- 8.2 All employees covered by this Agreement may be paid by check, paid no later than the end of the work each shift Friday. No more than five (5) days' wages may be withheld in any pay period. Any employee who is discharged or laid off shall be entitled to receive all accrued wages immediately upon discharge or layoff.
- 8.3 Employers shall pay contributions to the established employee benefit funds in the amounts designated in the appropriate MLA and make all employee authorized deductions in the amounts designated in the appropriate MLA; provided, that such contributions shall not exceed the contribution amount set forth in the Current Prevailing Wage Determination.
- 8.4 Pursuant to and as limited by the Subscription Agreement (or for Employers signatory to an MLA), the Employer adopts and agrees to be bound by the written terms of the applicable, legally established, trust agreement(s) specifying the detailed basis on which payments are to be made into, and benefits paid out of, such trust funds for its employees. The Employer authorizes the Parties to such trust funds to appoint trustees and successor trustees to administer the trust funds and hereby ratifies and accepts the trustees so appointed as if made by the Employer. Nevertheless, the Employers obligation to the trust fund(s) is limited to the work within the scope of the Construction Contract.
- 8.5 Each Employer is required to certify under penalty of perjury, to the Project Labor Coordinator that it has paid all benefit contributions due and owing to the appropriate Trust(s) prior to the receipt of its final payment and/or retention. The Project Labor Coordinator shall work with any prime Employer who is delinquent in payments to assure that proper benefit contributions

are made, to the extent of requesting the County or the prime Employer to withhold payments otherwise due such Employer, until such contributions have been made or otherwise guaranteed.

ARTICLE 9 HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, SHIFTS AND HOLIDAYS

- 9.1 Hours of Work. Eight (8) hours per day between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m., plus one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch approximately mid-way through the shift, shall constitute the standard work day. Forty (40) hours per week shall constitute a regular week's work. The work week will start on Sunday and conclude on Saturday. The foregoing provisions of this Article are applicable unless otherwise provided in the applicable prevailing wage determination, or unless changes are permitted by law and such are agreed upon by the Parties. Nothing herein shall be construed as guaranteeing any employee eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week, or a Monday through Friday standard work schedule.
- 9.2 Place of Work. Employees shall be at their place of work (as designated by the Employer), at the starting time and shall remain at their place of work, performing their assigned functions, until quitting time. The place of work is defined as the gang or tool box or equipment at the employee's assigned work location or the place where the foreman gives instructions. The parties reaffirm their policy of a fair day's work for a fair day's wage. There shall be no pay for time not worked, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or under law, unless the employee is otherwise engaged at the direction of the Employer.
- 9.3 Overtime. Overtime shall be paid in accordance with the requirements of the applicable prevailing wage determination. There shall be no restriction on the Employer's scheduling of overtime or the nondiscriminatory designation of employees who will work overtime. There shall be no pyramiding of overtime (payment of more than one form of overtime compensation for the same hour) under any circumstances.
 - 9.4 Shifts and Alternate Work Schedules.
 - 9.4.1 Alternate starting and quitting time and/or shift work may be performed at the option of the Employer upon three (3) days' prior notice to the affected union(s), unless a shorter notice period is provided for in the applicable MLA and shall continue for a period of not less than five (5) working days. Saturdays and Sundays, if worked, may be used for establishing the five (5) day minimum work shift. If two shifts are worked, each shall consist of eight (8) hours of continuous work exclusive of a one-half (1/2) hour non-paid lunch period, for eight (8) hours pay. The first shift starting between 6:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m., is designated as the first shift, with the second shift following eight (8) hours later.
 - 9.4.2 Additional pay or differentials based upon the shift or work schedule of the employees shall only be paid by the Employer if required by the applicable prevailing wage determination.
 - 9.4.3 To the extent permitted by state and federal law, the Employer may, upon five (5) days' notice to appropriate union(s), establish a work week of four (4) consecutive ten (10) work hours days (exclusive of the one-half hour (1/2)

unpaid lunch approximately halfway through the shift). Such work week should consist of the same four (4) days each week, with the fifth day available as a make-up day if needed.

- 9.4.4 Because of operational necessities, the second shift may, at the County's direction, be scheduled without the preceding shift having been worked. It is recognized that the County's operations and/or mitigation obligations may require restructuring of normal work schedules. Except in an emergency or when specified in the County's bid specification, the Employer shall give the affected Union(s) at least three (3) days' notice of such schedule changes.
- 9.5 Holidays. Recognized holidays on the Covered Projects shall be those set forth and governed by the prevailing wage determination(s) applicable to the Covered Projects.

9.6 Show-up Pay.

- 9.6.1 Unless the applicable prevailing wage determination requires a higher amount, employees reporting for work and for whom no work is provided, except when given prior notification not to report to work, shall receive two (2) hours pay at their regular straight time hourly rate; while employees who are directed to start work shall receive four (4) hours of pay at the regular straight time hourly rate. Employees who work beyond four (4) hours shall be paid for actual hours worked. Whenever reporting pay is provided for employees, they will be required to remain at the Project Site and available for work for such time as they receive pay, unless released earlier by the principal supervisor of the Employer or his designated representative. Each employee shall furnish the Employer with his current address and telephone number and shall promptly report any changes to the Employer.
- 9.6.2 An employee called out to work outside of his shift shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the appropriate rate, except as otherwise required by the applicable prevailing wage law. This does not apply to time worked as an extension of (before or after) the employee's normal shift.
- 9.6.3 When an employee leaves the job or work location of his own volition or is discharged for cause or is not working as a result of the Employer's invocation of Article 16, the employee shall only be paid for actual time worked.
- 9.7 Brassing. The Employer may utilize "brassing" (or similar system) to check employees in and out. Each employee must check himself in and out. The Employer will provide adequate facilities for checking in and out in an expeditious manner.
- 9.8 Meal Periods. The Employer will schedule a meal period of no more than one-half hour duration at the work location at approximately the mid-point of the scheduled shift; provided, however, that the Employer may, for efficiency of the operation, establish a schedule which coordinates the meal periods of two (2) or more crafts. An employee may be required to work through his meal period because of an emergency or a threat to life or property, or for such other reasons as are in the applicable MLA, and if he is so required, he shall be compensated in

accordance with state law, unless the Employer is directly signatory to one or more Schedule As, in which case the provisions of such Schedule As will apply.

9.9 Make-up Days. To the extent permitted by the applicable prevailing wage determination, when an employee has been prevented from working for reasons beyond the control of the Employer, including, but not limited to inclement weather or other natural causes, during the regularly scheduled work week, a make-up day may be worked on a non-regularly scheduled work day for which an employee shall receive eight (8) hours pay at the straight time rate of pay or any premium rate required for such hours under the prevailing wage law.

ARTICLE 10 COMPLIANCE

- 10.1 The County shall designate a "Project Labor Coordinator," either from its own staff or an independent entity acting on behalf of the County, to monitor compliance with this Agreement. The Council shall actively assist the Project Labor Coordinator and the County in developing, implementing and administering the programs referenced in this Agreement, all of which are critical to fulfilling the intent and purposes of the Parties and this Agreement; and to otherwise implement and administer this Agreement.
- 10.2 All Employers, Unions and employees shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws, ordinances, and regulations, including, not limited to, those relating to safety and health, employment, and applications for employment. All employees shall comply with the safety regulations and policies established by the County and the Employers. Employees must promptly report any injuries or accidents to a supervisor.
- 10.3 It shall be the responsibility of the Employers and the Unions to comply with the provisions of this Agreement.
- 10.4 The Project Labor Coordinator shall be responsible for oversight in monitoring the compliance of all Employers with all applicable prevailing wage laws and regulations to the extent required by law. All complaints regarding potential prevailing wage violations may be referred to the Project Labor Coordinator for processing, investigation and resolution, and if not resolved within 30 calendar days of taking cognizance of the potential violation or complaint, the matter may be referred to the State Labor Commissioner by any party or form the basis for a grievance under Article 11 of this Agreement.
- 10.5 If the County opts to implement an online certified payroll system for a Covered Project, the Employers agree to use the County-required online certified payroll system for the submission of certified payroll records and any other documents required by the County or Project Labor Coordinator related to labor compliance and compliance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

11.1 This Agreement is intended to provide close cooperation between management and labor. Each of the Unions will assign a representative to the Covered Projects for the purpose of completing the construction of the Covered Projects economically, efficiently, continuously, and without interruptions, delays, or work stoppages.

- 11.2 The Employers, Unions, and the employees, collectively and individually, realize the importance to all Parties to maintain continuous and uninterrupted performance of the work of the Covered Projects, and agree to resolve disputes in accordance with the grievance-arbitration provisions set forth in this Article.
- 11.3 Any question or dispute by or between an Employer, Employee and/or a Union and arising out of and during the term of this Agreement, other than disputes arising under Article 4 (Work Stoppages and Lockouts), Article 5 (No Discrimination or Harassment) or Article 13 (Jurisdictional Disputes) shall be considered a grievance and subject to resolution under the following procedures:
 - Step 1: Should a Union, Employee or any Employer have a dispute with another party or parties, and if after conferring within five (5) working days after the disputing party knew or should have known of the facts or occurrence giving rise to the dispute, a settlement is not reached within five (5) working days, the dispute shall be reduced to writing and processed to Step 2.
 - Step 2: In the event that the representatives are unable to resolve the dispute at the Step 1 meeting, the grieving party shall, within five (5) working days after the Step 1 meeting, notify the responding party and the Project Labor Coordinator of a request to discuss the grievance. The Business Manager of the Union (or his/her designee) shall meet with the respective jobsite representative of the Employer and the Project Labor Coordinator within ten (10) working days (or such longer time as all of the parties may mutually agree) after receipt of the request to discuss the grievance. If the grievance is not resolved at the Step 2 meeting, the grievance may be submitted to final and binding arbitration as described in Step 3.
 - Step 3: In the event a dispute cannot be satisfactorily resolved within the time limits established above in Step 2, either party may submit the dispute to arbitration by written notice to the Project Labor Coordinator and other party within ten (10) working days (or such longer time as mutually agreed) of the date on which the parties met at Step 2. An arbitrator shall be selected by the Project Labor Coordinator in sequential order from the following list of permanent arbitrators: (1) Lou Zigman, (2) John Kagel, (3) Walter Daugherty, (4) Sara Adler, (5) Joseph Gentile, (6) Michael Rappaport, and (7) Fred Horowitz. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the parties. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to alter, amend, add to, or delete from the provisions of this Agreement in any way. The failure of any party to attend said hearing shall not delay the hearing of evidence or the issuance of any decision by the arbitrator. Should any party seek confirmation of the award made by the arbitrator, the prevailing party shall be entitled to receive its reasonable attorney fees and costs.
- 11.4 Failure of the grieving party to adhere to the time limits established herein shall render the grievance null and void. The time limits established herein may be extended only by written consent of the parties involved at the particular step where the extension is agreed upon. The arbitrator shall have the authority to make decisions only on issues presented and shall not

have the authority to change, amend, add to or detract from any of the provisions of this Agreement.

- 11.5 The Project Labor Coordinator shall be notified of all actions at Step 2 or higher by the grieving party and shall, upon the Project Labor Coordinator's request, be permitted to participate in all grievance meetings.
- 11.6 The time limits specified in any step of this Dispute Resolution Procedure may be extended by written mutual agreement of the parties initiated by the written request of one party to the other, at the appropriate step of the dispute procedure. However, failure to process a dispute within the time limits provided above, without a request for an extension of time, shall be deemed a waiver of such dispute without prejudice, or without precedent to the processing and/or resolution of like or similar disputes.
- 11.7 In order to encourage the resolution of disputes at Steps 1 and 2 of this Dispute Resolution Procedure, the parties agree that any settlements made during such steps, shall not be precedent setting.
- 11.8 The fees and expenses incurred by the arbitrator, as well as those jointly utilized by the parties (i.e. conference room, court reporter, etc.) in arbitration, shall be divided equally by the parties to the arbitration, including the Union(s) and Employer(s) involved, however in no circumstance will the Project Labor Coordinator or the County be assigned or assessed any such fees and expenses.

ARTICLE 12 JOINT ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

- 12.1 The Parties to this Agreement may establish a six (6) person Joint Administrative
- Committee (JAC). This JAC shall be comprised of three (3) representatives selected by the Council and three (3) representatives selected by the County, or its designated representative, to be chaired jointly by a representative of the County and the Council. Each representative shall designate an alternate who shall serve in his or her absence for any purpose contemplated by this Agreement.
- 12.2 The JAC shall meet at the call of either of the joint chairs to discuss the implementation and administration of the Agreement, the progress of the Covered Projects, general labor management problems that may arise, and any other matters consistent with this Agreement. A unanimous decision of the JAC shall be final and binding upon all Parties. However, the JAC shall have no authority to make determinations upon or to decide grievances arising under this Agreement.
- 12.3 A quorum will consist of at least two (2) County and two (2) signatory Union representatives. For voting purposes, only an equal number of County and signatory Union representatives present may constitute a voting quorum.

ARTICLE 13 JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES

13.1 The assignment of work will be solely the responsibility of the Employer performing

the work involved and such work assignments will be in accordance with the Plan for the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes in the Construction Industry (the Plan) or any successor Plan.

- 13.2 All jurisdictional disputes on Covered Projects between or among the building and construction trades Unions and the Employers party to this Agreement, shall be settled and adjusted according to the present Plan established by the Building and Construction Trades Department or any other plan or method of procedure that may be adopted in the future by the Building and Construction Trades Department. Decisions rendered shall be final, binding and conclusive on the Employers and Unions party to this Agreement.
- 13.3 If a dispute arising under this Article involves the Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters or any of its subordinate bodies, an Arbitrator shall be chosen by the procedures specified in Article V, Section 5, of the Plan from a list composed of John Kagel, Thomas Angelo, Robert Hirsch, and Thomas Pagan, and the Arbitrator's hearing on the dispute shall be held at the offices of the Council within fourteen (14) days of the selection of the Arbitrator. All other procedures shall be as specified in the Plan.
- 13.4 All Jurisdictional Disputes shall be resolved without the occurrence of any strike, work stoppage, or slow-down of any nature and the Employer's assignment shall be adhered to until the dispute is resolved. Individuals violating this section shall be subject to immediate discharge.

ARTICLE 14 APPRENTICES

14.1 Importance of Training. The Parties recognize the need to maintain continuing support of the programs designed to develop adequate numbers of competent workers in the construction industry, the obligation to capitalize on the availability of the local work force in the area served by the County, and the opportunities to provide continuing work during the construction of the Covered Projects. To these ends, the Parties will facilitate, encourage, and assist Local Residents and Targeted Workers to commence and progress in Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship and/or training programs in the construction industry leading to participation in apprenticeship programs. In accordance with Article 19, the County, the Project Labor Coordinator, other County Departments, and the Council, will work cooperatively to identify, or establish and maintain, effective programs and procedures for persons interested in entering the construction industry and which will help prepare them for the formal Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Programs maintained by the signatory Unions.

14.2 <u>Use of Apprentices.</u>

14.2.1 The Unions agree to cooperate with the Employer in furnishing Apprentices as requested up to the maximum percentage, as provided in Section 7.4.3. The County shall encourage such utilization, and, both as to Apprentices and the overall supply of skilled journeypersons, the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council will work to ensure appropriate and maximum utilization of Apprentices and the continuing availability of both Apprentices and Skilled Journeypersons.

14.2.2 All Apprentices shall work under the direct supervision of a Skilled Journeyperson from the trade in which the Apprentice is indentured. A Skilled Journeyperson shall be defined as set forth Section 7.8.2, above. Should a question arise as to a Skilled Journeyperson's qualification under this subsection, the Employer shall provide adequate proof evidencing the worker's qualification as a Skilled Journeyperson to the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council.

ARTICLE 15 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 15.1 <u>Contractor and County Rights.</u> The contractors and the County have the sole and exclusive right and authority to oversee and manage construction operations on Project Work without any limitations unless expressly limited or required by the other Articles of this Agreement or an MLA. In addition to the following and other rights of the contractors enumerated in this Agreement, the contractors expressly reserve their management rights and all the rights conferred upon them by law. The contractor's rights include, but are not limited to, the right to:
 - (a) Plan, direct and control operations of all work;
 - (b) To be the sole judge of the qualifications, number and classification of employees required to perform work subject to this Agreement and thus to reject any applicant for employment and to hire, promote, transfer and layoff their own employees at their discretion, respectively, as deemed appropriate to satisfy work and/or skill requirements;
 - (c) Promulgate and require all employees to observe reasonable job rules and security and safety regulations;
 - (d) Discharge, suspend or discipline their own employees for just cause;
 - (e) Utilize, in accordance with County approval, any work methods, procedures or techniques, and select, use and install any types or kinds of materials, apparatus or equipment, regardless of source of manufacture or construction; assign and schedule work at their discretion; and
 - (f) Assign overtime, determine when it will be worked and the number and identity of employees engaged in such work, subject to such provisions in the applicable Schedule A(s) requiring such assignments be equalized or otherwise made in a non-discriminatory manner.
 - 15.2 Specific County Rights. In addition to the following and other rights of the County enumerated in this Agreement, the County expressly reserves its management rights and all the rights conferred on it by law. The County's rights include but are not limited to the right to:
 - (a) Inspect any construction site or facility to ensure that the contractor follows the applicable safety and other work requirements;

- (b) Require contractors to establish a different work week or shift schedule for particular employees as required to meet the operational needs of the Project Work at a particular location or in order to accommodate any ongoing business at the Project site where operations may be continuing during periods of construction activity;
- (c) At its sole option, terminate, delay and/or suspend any and all portions of the covered work at any time; prohibit some or all work on certain days or during certain hours of the day to accommodate any ongoing operations of the County at the Project site and/or to mitigate the effect of ongoing Project Work on businesses and residents in the neighborhood of the Project site; and/or require such other operational or schedule changes it deems necessary, in its sole judgment, to effectively maintain its primary operational mission at the Project site and remain a good neighbor to those in the area of its facilities. (In order to permit the contractors and unions to make appropriate scheduling plans, the County will provide the Project Labor Coordinator, and the affected contractor(s) and union(s) with reasonable notice of any changes it requires pursuant to this section; provided, however, that if notice is not provided in time to advise employees not to report for work, show-up pay shall be due pursuant to the provision of Section 9.6);
 - (d) Approve any work methods, procedures and techniques used by contractors whether or not these methods, procedures or techniques are part of industry practices or customs; and
 - (e) Investigate and process complaints, through its Project Labor Coordinator, in the matter set forth in Articles IV and XI.
- 15.3 <u>Use of Materials.</u> There should be no limitations or restriction by Union upon a contractor's choice of materials or design, nor, regardless of source or location, upon the full use and utilization, of equipment, machinery, packaging, precast, prefabricated, prefinished, or preassembled materials, tools or other labor saving devices, subject to the application of the State Public Contracts and Labor Codes as required by law in reference to offsite construction. Generally, the onsite installation or application of such items shall be performed by the craft having jurisdiction over such work. The County and its Project Labor Coordinator shall advise all contractors of, and enforce as appropriate, the off-site application of the prevailing wage law as it affects Project Work.

ARTICLE 16 SAFETY, PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY

- 16.1 It shall be the responsibility of each Employer to ensure safe working conditions and employee compliance with any safety rules contained herein or established by the County, the State and the Employer. It is understood that the employees have an individual obligation to use diligent care to perform their work in a safe manner and to protect themselves and the property of the Employer and the County.
- 16.2 Unions and Employees shall be bound by the safety, security and visitor rules established by the Employer and the County. These rules will be published and posted in conspicuous places by the Employer throughout the work site. An employee's failure to satisfy his obligations under this Article will subject him to discipline, including discharge.

- 16.3 The Parties acknowledge that the County and Employer have a policy, which prohibits the use, sale, transfer, purchase and/or possession of a controlled substance, alcohol and/or firearms while on the County 's premises.
- 16.4 The Parties to this Agreement adopt the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council Approved Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy, a copy of which is attached hereto as Attachment D and which shall be the policy and procedure utilized under this Agreement.
- 16.5 An Employer may suspend all or a portion of the job to protect the life and safety of employees. In such cases, employees will be compensated only for the actual time worked; provided, however, that where the Employer requests employees to remain at the site and be available for work, the employees will be compensated for stand-by time at their appropriate hourly rate of pay.

ARTICLE 17 SAVINGS CLAUSE

- 17.1 The Parties agree that in the event any Article, provision, clause, sentence or word of the Agreement is determined to be illegal or void as being in contravention of any applicable law, by a final court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The Parties further agree that if any Article, provision, clause, sentence or word of the Agreement is determined to be illegal or void, by a final court of competent jurisdiction, the Parties shall substitute, by mutual agreement, in its place and stead, an Article, provision, sentence or word which will meet the objections to its validity and which will be in accordance with the intent and purpose of the Article, provision, clause, sentence or word in question.
- 17.2 The Parties also agree that in the event that a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction materially alters the terms of the Agreement such that the intent of the Parties is defeated, then this entire Agreement shall be null and void.
- 17.3 If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that all or part of the Agreement is invalid and/or enjoins the County from complying with all or part of its provisions, no Employer or Union would be bound by the provisions of Article 4. The Unions and their members shall remain bound to Article 4 with respect to all Employers who remain bound to this Agreement, and no action taken by the Unions or their members shall disrupt the work of such Employer.
- 17.4 The provisions of this Agreement shall not be applicable where prohibited by Presidential Executive Order, Federal or State law, or where the application would be inconsistent with terms and conditions of a grant or a contract with the agency of the United States, State of California, or the instruction of an authorized representative of these agencies with respect to any grant or contract.

ARTICLE 18 PRE-JOB CONFERENCE

18.1 Each Employer will conduct a pre-job conference with the Unions not later than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to commencing work. The purpose of the conference will be to, among other things, determine craft manpower needs, schedule of work for the Covered Project

and project work rules and owner rules. The Council, the Project Labor Coordinator, and the County shall be advised not later than ten (10) calendar days in advance of all such conferences and may participate if they wish. All work assignments shall be disclosed by the prime contractor and all Employers at a pre-job conference. Should there be work within the scope of a Construction Contract for a Covered Project that was not previously discussed at the pre-job conference, or additional work be added to the scope of that project, the Employers performing such work will conduct a separate pre-job conference for such newly included work. Any Union in disagreement with the proposed assignment shall notify the Employer of its position in writing, with a copy to Project Labor Coordinator, within seven (7) calendar days thereafter. Within seven (7) calendar days after the period allowed for Union notices of disagreement with the Employer's proposed assignments, but prior to the commencement of any work, the Employer shall make final assignments in writing with copies to the Project Labor Coordinator. A final work assignment not disputed within ten (10) calendar days by any Union in accordance with the Plan for the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes in the Construction Industry shall be deemed accepted by each affected union and each benefit trust affiliated with such union and may not thereafter be disputed.

ARTICLE 19 WORK AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

- 19.1 The Parties recognize the proposed Covered Projects' economic opportunity and impact on County residents, businesses and the communities surrounding the proposed Covered Projects. The Parties are committed to working in partnership to create a skilled local workforce that is reflective of the population of the communities surrounding the proposed Covered Projects and within the County. Towards that end, the Parties agree to establish and implement a framework for Work and Economic Opportunity to maximize career opportunities for Local Residents and Targeted Workers, including those who have not previously qualified to be employed on construction projects, and to provide meaningful outreach, training and business opportunities for LSBE, DVBE AND SE employers to successfully work under this Agreement.
- 19.2 As coordinated by the Project Labor Coordinator and Jobs Coordinators, the Parties will work together with the County departments (including, but not limited to, the Workforce Development, Aging Community Services (WDACS); the Chief Executive Office (CEO) and the Department of Public Works (DPW); SEs; non-profits; veteran assistance organizations; and other community groups, who work with Targeted Worker populations, to conduct outreach and recruit a sufficient number of Local Residents and Targeted Workers who are interested in beginning a construction career. Such Local Residents and Targeted Workers will be assessed by the Project Labor Coordinator or Jobs Coordinator to determine their career readiness level and coordinate potential entrance into a local MC3 pre-apprenticeship program or, if a veteran or otherwise qualified, potential direct entry into a Joint Labor Management Apprenticeship Program, or, if appropriate to their level of skill and training, join the Union as a Skilled Journeyperson. The recruitment and outreach level of effort, including the quantity of Local Residents and Targeted Workers recruited, will fluctuate based on the Projects' hiring needs and schedule.
- 19.3 The Council and the Unions will work with the Project Labor Coordinator and Jobs Coordinators to identify and support local outreach events and programs designed to recruit and develop adequate numbers of qualified workers in the construction industry, to arrange for tours of their Joint Apprenticeship Committees and programs, and to provide contact information for all Union representatives signatory to this Agreement.

34

- 19.4 The Parties recognize the importance of providing direct assistance to Local Residents and Targeted Workers to help them overcome barriers to employment. Towards that end, if necessary, Local Residents and Targeted Workers will be referred by the Project Labor Coordinator or Jobs Coordinator to America's Job Centers of California (AJCC) or other community based organizations and SE firms or agencies that provide supportive services. The Project Labor Coordinator, in coordination with County, will monitor and report the outcomes of all referrals to employment support service providers. The Project Labor Coordinator, Jobs Coordinators, the Council, the County, and the involved employment support service providers will collaborate with the affected Employers and Unions to ensure that Union initiation, registration and enrollment fees, lack of PPE and tools are not a barrier to participation for Local Residents and Targeted Workers.
- 19.5 In order to create career pathways for Local Residents and Targeted Workers who may need additional training and preparation for a construction career, the Parties will partner with local pre-apprenticeship programs that are authorized by the Council to teach the Multi-Craft Core Curriculum (MC3). These existing pre-apprenticeship programs include, but are not limited to, Flintridge Center Apprenticeship Preparation Program, HireLAX Apprenticeship Readiness Program at Southwest College, Los Angeles Trade Technical College, Maxine Waters Employment Preparation Program, Women-In-Non-Traditional-Employment-Roles, YouthBuild, Antelope Valley College and Antelope Valley Youth Build. The Parties recognize the need to continue to develop pre-apprenticeship training programs to meet the significant demand for local skilled craft labor at each Covered Project location. Towards that end, the Parties will collaborate to determine and develop the optimal MC3 pre-apprenticeship training plan for each Project location.
- 19.6 After successful graduation from the MC3 pre-apprenticeship program, the Project Labor Coordinator and Jobs Coordinators will work together with the Employers and Unions to assist Local Residents and Targeted Workers with preferential entry into a Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Program and employment with an Employer performing work within the scope of a Construction Contract on a Covered Project. Both the Unions and Employers recognize the importance of increasing the supply of local skilled craft labor by assisting Local Residents and Targeted Workers start their construction careers on Covered Projects.
- 19.7 For Veterans, Local Residents and other Targeted Workers who have provable past experience and do not require additional training or assistance, the Unions agree to give them credit for provable past experience in their relevant craft or trade, including experience gained working for non-union contractors, in order to bring them directly into the Joint Labor/Management Apprenticeship Programs at a higher level, or as a Skilled Journeyperson, if qualified. The Unions shall put on their rolls qualified bona fide Local Residents and Targeted Workers for work on Covered Projects.
- 19.8 The Project Labor Coordinator, with the assistance of the Council, the Unions and Employers, will produce detailed monthly reports to the County in accordance with the Local and Targeted Worker Hire Policy, including measurement of compliance with this Agreement for each Employer and the overall project achievement for Local and Targeted Worker Hiring, to measure the economic impact of the programs and policies established herein. The reports may be

35

produced, in part, by utilizing an online certified payroll reporting system if the County ultimately implements such a system.

- 19.9 The Project Labor Coordinator, with the assistance of the Council and the Unions, will produce detailed quarterly reports to the County on the progress in implementing the programs specified in this Article, including an evaluation of the successes and obstacles in the implementations of these provisions.
- 19.10 The Council and the Unions will, in coordination with the Project Labor Coordinator and Jobs Coordinators, participate in orientations at least twice per year for LSBE, DVBE and SE contractors regarding the CWA and the employee benefit trust funds.
- 19.11 The Council and Unions will support local events and programs designed to recruit, develop, educate and inform certified LSBE, DVBE and SE contractors seeking access and readiness to contract for work on Covered Projects. In order to attract and promote participation of LSBE, DVBE and SE contractors, the Unions will work with the Project Labor Coordinator to identify signatory contractors who are certified or may be qualified to become certified as a LSBE, DVBE or SE for outreach related to contracting opportunities on Covered Projects.

19.12 Women in Trades Advisory Council

- 19.12.1 The County and Council will establish and co-chair the Los Angeles County Women in Trades Advisory Council to provide a forum to engage in dialogue and recommendation development that will define and implement strategies to increase female recruitment, training, placement and retention.
- 19.12.2 The Building Construction and Trades Council Executive Secretary and County will each designate a co-chair of the Women in Trades Advisory Council and coordinate the participation of each signatory union and affiliated apprenticeship program with the assistance of the Project Labor Coordinator.
- 19.12.3 In order to increase the participation and retention of female craft workers, each signatory union shall use a good faith effort to establish a Tradeswomen Mentoring Program for their female apprentices and journeyman that provide support, mentoring and fosters a neutral, unbiased and supportive environment where female craft workers may express their thoughts and career objectives.
- 19.12.4 Members of the Tradeswomen Mentoring Program are encouraged to engage with female pre-apprentices through the network of apprenticeship readiness programs and youth organizations to facilitate support and access to apprenticeship.

19.13 LSBE, DVBE and SE Programs

19.13.1 The Parties recognize that the proposed Covered Projects are subject to the County's LSBE, DVBE and SE Preference Programs.

19.13.2 In order to encourage participation of certified LSBE, DVBE and SE businesses, the Parties agree that individual subcontracts awarded to certified LSBE, DVBE and SE businesses on Covered Projects with a subcontract value of \$50,000 or less will be entirely exempt from this Agreement. The aggregate value of all subcontracts falling under this exemption will not exceed one percent (1%) of the value of each Covered Project. Any subcontracts excluded from this Agreement pursuant to this Article shall not be subject to the terms of this Agreement, and the Unions and Council shall have no obligations to provide workers for or reporting of workers for work performed under any such excluded subcontracts.

19.13.3 No Union shall undertake any strike, work stoppage, or other action against a certified LSBE, DVBE or SE business performing work excluded pursuant to this Article, and the Parties expressly agree that any such work shall not be subject to trust fund contributions by application of this Agreement. This Agreement shall not limit the rights of Unions to seek to organize and to utilize legal and administrative remedies not precluded by this Agreement, according to applicable federal or state laws, to secure such rights.

ARTICLE 20 STEWARDS

- 20.1 Each Union shall have the right to designate one working craft employee as steward for each Employer employing such craft on the Covered Project. Such designated steward shall be a qualified workman assigned to a crew and shall perform the work of the craft. The steward shall not perform supervisory duties. Under no circumstances shall there be nonworking stewards. Stewards shall be permitted a reasonable amount of time during working hours to perform applicable Union duties related to the work being performed by the craft employees of his Employer and not to the work being performed by other Contractors/Employers or their employees.
- 20.2 Authorized representatives of the Union(s) shall have access to the Project, provided that such representatives fully comply with posted visitor, security, and safety rules, and provided that they do not unnecessarily interfere with the employees or cause them to neglect their work.

ARTICLE 21 TERM

- 21.1 The Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until all of the work within the scope of the Construction Contracts for the Covered Projects have been completed and accepted by the County, provided that the Covered Projects have been awarded by the Board within ten (10) years of the effective date of this Agreement. If a Covered Project has not been awarded by the Board prior to the expiration of ten (10) years from the effective date of this Agreement, the Agreement shall not apply. Should any Covered Project not be awarded within ten (10) years of the effective date of this Agreement, the County shall meet with the Unions at least ninety (90) days before the expiration date of this Agreement, to discuss extending this Agreement.
- 21.2 Construction of any phase, portion, section, or segment of work within the scope of a Construction Contract shall be deemed complete when such phase, portion, section or segment

has been turned over to the County by the Employer and the County has accepted such phase, portion, section, or segment. As areas and systems of the Covered Project are inspected and construction-tested and/or approved and accepted by the County or third parties with the approval of the County, the Agreement shall have no further force or effect on such items or areas, except when and if the Employer is directed by the County to engage in repairs or modifications required by its contract(s) with the County.

21.3 Notice of each final acceptance received by the Employer on a Covered Project will be available to the Project Labor Coordinator and the Council with the description of what portion, segment, etc. has been accepted. Final acceptance may be subject to a "punch" list, and in such case, the Agreement will continue to apply to each such item on the list until it is completed to the satisfaction of the County and Notice of Acceptance is given by the County or its representative to the Employer. At the request of the Union, complete information describing any "punch" list work, as well as any additional work required of an Employer at the direction of the County pursuant to Section 21.2 above, involving otherwise turned-over and completed facilities which have been accepted by the County, will be available from the Project Labor Coordinator.

ARTICLE 22 RESPONSIBILITY FOR COSTS

22.1 The County and the Unions shalleach be responsible for their own legal costs including all attorneys' fees and associated disbursements that might accrue with regard to any legal challenge over the adoption by the County of this Agreement and related to claims directly challenging the legality of this Agreement, or a particular section of language that has been adopted herein.

ARTICLE 23 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 23.1 This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted both as to validity and to performance of the Parties in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Legal actions concerning any dispute, claim or matter arising out of or in relation to this Agreement shall be instituted in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of California, or any other appropriate court in such county.
- 23.2 Any notice, demand, request, document, consent, approval, or communication required by or to be given to County shall be sent to the office or individual designated by the County.
- 23.3 The terms of this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the meaning of the language used and shall not be construed for or against either party by reason of the authorship of this Agreement or any other rule of construction which might otherwise apply.
- 23.4 The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto warrant that (i) such party is duly organized and existing, (ii) they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said party, (iii) by so executing this Agreement, such party is formally bound to the provisions of this Agreement, and (iv) the entering into this Agreement does not violate any provision of any other agreement to which said party is bound.

23.5 Any modification to this Agreement must be in writing and executed by all Parties hereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year written below.

THE UNION OFFICIALS signing this Agreement warrant and represent that they are authorized to collectively bargain on behalf of the organizations whom they represent and the members of such organizations.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

		()	m/l
\wedge	By	y X	orter
O	Sachi	A. Hamai	

Chief Executive Officer County of Los Angeles

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Michael Simon, Senior Deputy

County Counsel

Date: 9/3/2019

Date: 8-21-19

Date: 11/20/19

LOS ANGELES/ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

Ron Miller

Executive Secretary

Los Angeles/Orange County Building

And Construction Trade Council

Union Signatory Page Asbestos Heat & Frost Insulators (Local 5) Boilermakers (Local 92) Bricklayers & Allied Craftworkers (Local 4) Cement Masons (Local 500) Cement Masons (Local 600) E98 7/29/19 Electricians (Local 11) Elevator Constructors (Local 18) Gunite Workers (Local 345) Iron Workers (Reinforced – Local 416) Iron Workers (Structural – Local 433) Laborers (Local 300) Laborers (Local 1184) District Council of Laborers Laborers (Local 1309) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Operating Engineers (Local 12) Painters & Allied Trades DC 36 Pipe Trades (Local 250) Pipe Trades (Local 345) Pipe Trades (Plumbers Local 78) Pipe Trades (Plumbers/Fitters Local 761) Pipe Trades (Sprinkler Fitters Local 709) Pipe Trades (Road Sprinkler Local 669) Plasterers (Local 200) Plaster Tenders (Local 1414) Roofers & Waterproofers (Local 36) Sheet Metal Workers (Local 105) Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters

Teamsters (Local 986)

ATTACHMENT A: LETTER OF ASSENT COMPANY LETTERHEAD

COUNTY OFFICIAL / OFFICE
PROJECT NAME:
Dear:
This is to certify that the undersigned Contractor/Subcontractor/Employer ("Employer") has read and understood the Community Workforce Agreement (CWA) entered into between the County of Los Angeles ("County") and the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council ("Council") and the craft unions and District Councils signing this Agreement dated The undersigned Employer hereby agrees to comply with all of the terms and conditions of the aforementioned duly signed CWA.
The undersigned Employer acknowledges that compliance with the provisions of Article 7 relating to Local Residents, Targeted Workers, Workforce Referral and Development and Apprenticeship Participation are of particular importance.
It is understood that the signing of this Letter of Assent shall be as binding on the undersigned Employer as though the Employer had signed the CWA and Employer shall require all its subcontractors, of whatever tier, to become similarly bound for all work within the scope of this CWA.
This Letter of Assent shall become effective and binding upon the undersigned Employer as of below date of execution and shall remain in full force and effect until the completion of the above stated project.
Sincerely,
(Name of Construction Company)
By: Date: (Name and Title of Authorized Executive)
(Contractor's State License No.)
(Project Name)

ATTACHMENT B: APPLICABLE UNION MASTER LABOR AGREEMENTS

- 1. Southern California Chapter, Western Insulation Contractors Association and Local No. 5, International Association of heat and Frost Insulators and Allied Workers Master Labor Agreement, Effective June 30, 2014 July 2, 2017.
- 2. Western States Articles of Agreement Between the International Brotherhood of Boilermakers, Iron Ship Builders, Blacksmiths, Forgers and Helpers AFL-CIO and the Signatory Contractors, Effective October 1, 2014 Terminating September 30, 2017.
- 3. The Executive Council of the Mason Contractors Exchange of Southern California, Inc. and Bricklayers and Allied Craftworkers Local #4, California, Effective May1, 2016 to April 30, 2021.
- 4. Master Labor Agreement between Southern California General Contractors and Eleven Southern California Counties Cement Masons, Effective July 1, 2014 thru June 30, 2017.
- 5. Southern California Master Labor Agreement between Southern California General Contractors and The Southern California District Council of Laborers, Effective July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2018.
 - Tunnel Master Agreement between Associated General Contractors of California, Inc. and Southern California District Council of Laborers Affiliated with the Laborers' International Union of North America, AFL-CIO, Effective July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2018.
- Inside Wireman's Agreement between Local Union 11 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and Los Angeles County Chapter National Electrical Contractors Association, Effective July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2019.
 - Southern California 9th District Sound & Communications Agreement Addendum No. 1 to the 9th District Sound & Communications Agreement by and Between International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and National Electrical Contractors Association December 1, 2014 to November 30, 2019.
 - Intelligent Transportation Systems Agreement between Local Union 11 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers and Los Angeles County Chapter National Electrical Workers and Los Angeles County Chapter National Electrical Contractors Association 2014-2019.
- 7. National Elevator Bargaining Association Agreement with Intentional Union of Elevator Constructors, Effective July 9, 2012 to July 8, 2017.
- 8. Gunite/Shotcrete Commercial Agreement by between Gunite and/or Shotcrete Contractors and The Southern California District Council of Laborers and its Affiliate Gunite Local #345, Effective July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2019.
- 9. District Council of Iron Workers of the State of California and vicinity and its Locals 416 and 433 and the Western Steel Council et al., Effective June 10, 2014 to June 30, 2017.
- Master Labor Agreement between Southern California Contractors Association, Inc. and International Union of Operating Engineers Local Union No. 12, Effective July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2019.

11. Master Labor Agreement between Painters and Allied Trades District Council No. 36 and the Los Angeles Paint & Finishing Contractors Association et al., Effective July 1, 2016 thru June 30, 2019.

Southern California Drywall Finishers Joint Agreement between Painters and Allied Trades District Council No. 36 and the Western Wall & Ceiling Contractors Association, Effective October 1, 2016 thru September 30, 2020.

Master Labor Agreement between Painters and Allied Trades District Council No. 36 on behalf of Glaziers, Architectural Metal and Glass Workers Local Union No. 636 and Individual Contractors, Effective January 1, 2014 thru May 31, 2017.

Master Labor Agreement between Floor Covering Association of Southern California, Inc. and Painters and Allied Trades District Council No. 36 of the International Union of Painters and Allied Trades AFL-CIO-CLC on behalf of Resilient Floor and Decorative Covering Local Union No. 1247, Effective May 1, 2016 and April 30, 2019.

- 12. Master Agreement for the Plumbing and Piping Industry of Southern California between California Plumbing and Mechanical Contractors Association and Southern California Pipe Trades District Council No. 16 of the United Association, Effective July 1, 2014 thru June 30, 2018.
- 13. Agreement between National Fire Sprinkler Association, Inc. and Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No. 709, Los Angeles, California, of the United Association of Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Industry of the United States and Canada, Effective September 1, 2014 thru August 31, 2017.
- 14. Labor Agreement between Western Walls & Ceiling Contractors Association, Inc. California Plastering Conference and Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' International Association, AFL-CIO Local Union 200, Effective August 6, 2014 through July 31, 2018.
- 15. Plaster Tenders' Master Agreement between Western Wall and Ceiling Contractors Association, Inc. and Southern California District Council of Laborers and its affiliated Plaster Tenders of Southern California Local Union 1414, Effective August 6, 2017 thru August 7, 2018.
- 16. Master Labor Agreement by and between Local #36 and 220 of the United Union of Roofers, Waterproofers and Allied Workers and the Individual Roofing Contractors and Others, Effective August 1, 2015 to July 31, 2020, Inclusive.
- 17. Collective Bargaining Agreement between International Association of Sheet Metal, Air, Rail and Transportation Workers Local Union No. 105 & SMACNA Los Angeles & Orange Empire SMACNA, Effective July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2020.
- 18. Southern California Master Labor Agreement between Southern California General Contractors and Teamsters Joint Council #42 and Teamsters Local Union #87, Effective July 1, 2016 and June 30, 2019.
- 19. Southern California Master Labor Agreement Between United General Contractors, Inc. and the Southern Regional Council of Carpenters and Local Unions in the Twelve Southern California Counties and Nevada affiliated with the United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners of America, Effective July 1, 2016 until June 30, 2020.

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Harbor UCLA

On Site Phone:
Special Instructions:

The County of Los Angeles' Community Workforce Agreement establishes for projects with a total budget greater than \$2.5 million, with the exception of affordable housing projects, there shall be a *mandatory* hiring goal of at least 30% California Construction Labor Hours performed by either Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Residents and at least 10% of California Construction Labor Hours on the project performed by those classified as a Targeted Worker. California Construction Labor Hours is defined as all craft worker hours performed on the project by California residents, excluding the hours performed off site metal fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Resident may be applied towards the 30% goal.

CONTRACTOR USE ONL Please complete and fax or email this form to the applicable union to request craft workers that fulfill the hiring requirements for this project. After faxing your request, please call the Local to verify receipt and substantiate their capacity to furnish workers as specified below. Please print your Fax or Email Transmission Verification Reports and keep copies for your records. Local Union # TO: Email Fax **Project Labor Coordinator** CC: **Email** Fax Contractor Issued by FROM: Email Phone Fax **UNION CRAFT WORKER REQUEST:** No. of Journeyman or **Targeted** Workers Craft Classification **Apprentice** Tier 1 & Tier 2 Workers Requested \square JM \square APP ** * ** \square JM \square APP * \Box APP ** $\square JM$ \square JM \square APP * ** * ** \square JM \square APP Total Number of Workers Requested: In accordance with the PLA, Article 7, Referral, we are requesting the union: ★ Please provide workers from Tier 1. If the supply of available Tier 1 workers has been exhausted, please provide workers from Tier 2, if available. ** Please provide targeted workers, if available. **WORKER REPORTING INSTRUCTIONS:** Reporting Date: Reporting Time: **Project Name: Project Location:** Reporting To:

Attachment C: Craft Request Form [Page 1 of 2]

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Harbor UCLA

	U	NION	USE	ONLY			
Please complete the "Union Use Or	nly" section and fax	or email both pages	s to the requesting (Contractor and Proj	ect Labor Co	ordinator.	
Date Dispatch Receiv	ved:						
Dispatch Received	by:						
Date Worker(s) Dispatched:							
Name:	Helmets to Hardhats	JM or App	Tier 1 Worker? *	Tier 2 Worker? ★	Zip Code	Targeted Worker?	Targeted Category ★★
	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ JM ☐ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	□ Yes □ No	П ІМ П АРР	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No		□ Yes □ No	

 \square Yes \square No

☐ Yes ☐ No

☐ Yes ☐ No

 \square JM \square APP

Tier 1:

90061	90220	90221	90247	90501	90731	90744	90806	90810	90813
Tier 2:									
90001	90002	90003	90004	90005	90006	90007	90008	90010	90011
90012	90013	90014	90015	90016	90017	90018	90019	90020	90021
90022	90023	90026	90028	90029	90031	90032	90033	90034	90035
90036	90037	90038	90040	90042	90043	90044	90047	90057	90058
90059	90062	90063	90065	90071	90201	90222	90242	90255	90262
90270	90280	90301	90302	90303	90304	90601	90602	90630	90640
90660	90706	90715	90716	90723	90802	90804	90805	91001	91103
91204	91205	91303	91306	91321	91324	91331	91340	91342	91343
91352	91401	91402	91405	91406	91411	91502	91601	91605	91606
91702	91706	91731	91732	91733	91755	91766	91767	91768	91770
91776	93534	93535	93550	93591					

A <u>Targeted Worker</u> is an individual who is both a County resident and who faces one or more of the following barriers to employment:

- 1. Has a documented annual income at or below 100% of the Federal Poverty Level
- 2. Has no high school diploma or GED
- 3. Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system

☐ Yes ☐ No

- 4. Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months)
- 5. Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits
- 6. Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year
- 7. Is a custodial single parent
- 8. Is a former foster youth
- 9. Is a veteran or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a])
- 10. Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker
- 11. Is currently an English language learner
- 12. Is an older individual (55+)
- 13. Is disabled
- 14. Is an individual with a low level of literacy

[★] PLEASE NOTE: By marking the "No" box for either the "Tier 1 Available" or "Tier 2 Available" categories you are certifying, on behalf of the Union, that the Union has exhausted all reasonable efforts to locate and dispatch such Tier 1 or Tier 2 worker.

^{**} Please indicate number of the Targeted Worker category (1 through 14, as shown below). You may indicate multiple categories per worker.

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Mental Health Treatment Center

The County of Los Angeles' Community Workforce Agreement establishes for projects with a total budget greater than \$2.5 million, with the exception of affordable housing projects, there shall be a *mandatory* hiring goal of at least 30% California Construction Labor Hours performed by either Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Residents and at least 10% of California Construction Labor Hours on the project performed by those classified as a Targeted Worker. California Construction Labor Hours is defined as all craft worker hours performed on the project by California residents, excluding the hours performed off site metal fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Resident may be applied towards the 30% goal.

		СО	N	T R	Α	С	T C	R	U	S	Е	0	N	L	Υ				
Please comp	plete and fax or ema	il this form to	o the	applicabl	e unic	on to r	equest	craft wo	orkers th	at fulf	fill the h	iring re	equirem	ents	for this	s proje	ct. Afte	r faxin	g your request
	he Local to verify real keep copies for you		ibstan	tiate thei	ır capa	acity t	o Turnis	n work	ers as sp	есщ	ea beioi	N. Plea	ase prir	nt you	ır Fax	or Ema	ali irar	ismiss	ion verification
		Local Unio	on #																
TO:			mail																
			Fax																
	Project Labor	Coordin	ator																
CC:	Project Labor		mail																
00.			Fax																
			Tun																
		Contra	ctor																
		Issue																	
FROM:			mail																
			one																
			Fax																
LINION	CRAFT WORKE		CT.																
UNION	KAFI WUKKEI	REQUE	.31:																No. of
							10	nurne	yman o	nr					т	arget	hed	Ι,	Workers
Craft Cla	assification								entice	,	Tie	r 1 &	Tier 2)		Norke			equested
oran on								, .рр.] JM		Р	110	*				**		† · · ·	oquootou
								J JM	□AP			*				**	;		
								JM	□AP			*				**	;		
								JM	□AP	Р		*				**	:		
								JM	□AP	Р		*				**	;		
										To	otal Nu	ımbe	r of V	/ork	ers F	Reque	ested:	;	
	<u>In a</u>	accordar	ice i	with th	e Pl	_A, <i>A</i>	Article	e 7, R	eferra	I, w	e are	requ	ıestir	ıg tl	ne ur	<u>nion:</u>			
	* Please provi	de worke	ers fr	om Tie	er 1.	If th	e sup	ply of	availa	ble	Tier 1	wor	kers h	nas	beer	n exha	auste	d,	
	please provid																		
	** Please pro	ovide targ	jeted	l worke	ers, i	f ava	ailable	<u>!</u> .											
L																			
WORKE	r reporting i	NSTRUC	10IT	IS:															
Reportin																			
Reportir																			
Project I																			
	Location:																		
Reportir																			
On Site																			
Special	Instructions:	1																	

Attachment C: Craft Request Form [Page 1 of 2]

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Mental Health Treatment Center

UNION USE ONLY

Please complete the "Union Use Only" section and fax or email both pages to the requesting Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator.

Date Dispatch Received:
Dispatch Received by:

Date Worker(s) Dispatched:							
Name:	Helmets to Hardhats	JM or App	Tier 1 Worker? *	Tier 2 Worker? *	Zip Code	Targeted Worker?	Targeted Category ★ ★
	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ JM ☐ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	

[★] PLEASE NOTE: By marking the "No" box for either the "Tier 1 Available" or "Tier 2 Available" categories you are certifying, on behalf of the Union, that the Union has exhausted all reasonable efforts to locate and dispatch such Tier 1 or Tier 2 worker.

** Please indicate number of the Targeted Worker category (1 through 14, as shown below). You may indicate multiple categories per worker.

Tier 1.

1101 1.									
90001	90004	90005	90006	90007	90010	90011	90012	90013	90014
90015	90017	90018	90019	90020	90021	90022	90023	90026	90029
90031	90032	90033	90037	90038	90040				
Tier 2:									
90002	90003	90008	90016	90028	90034	90035	90036	90042	90043
90044	90047	90057	90058	90059	90061	90062	90063	90065	90071
90201	90220	90221	90222	90242	90247	90255	90262	90270	90280
90301	90302	90303	90304	90501	90601	90602	90630	90640	90660
90706	90715	90716	90723	90731	90744	90802	90804	90805	90806
90810	90813	91001	91103	91204	91205	91303	91306	91321	91324
91331	91340	91342	91343	91352	91401	91402	91405	91406	91411
91502	91601	91605	91606	91702	91706	91731	91732	91733	91755
91766	91767	91768	91770	91776	93534	93535	93550	93591	

A <u>Targeted Worker</u> is an individual who is both a County resident and who faces **one or more** of the following barriers to employment:

- 1. Has a documented annual income at or below 100% of the Federal Poverty Level
- 2. Has no high school diploma or GED
- 3. Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system
- 4. Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months)
- 5. Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits
- 6. Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year
- 7. Is a custodial single parent
- 8. Is a former foster youth
- 9. Is a veteran or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a])
- 10. Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker
- 11. Is currently an English language learner
- 12. Is an older individual (55+)
- 13. Is disabled
- 14. Is an individual with a low level of literacy

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Martin Luther King Jr. Medical Campus

The County of Los Angeles' Community Workforce Agreement establishes for projects with a total budget greater than \$2.5 million, with the exception of affordable housing projects, there shall be a *mandatory* hiring goal of at least 30% California Construction Labor Hours performed by either Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Residents and at least 10% of California Construction Labor Hours on the project performed by those classified as a Targeted Worker. California Construction Labor Hours is defined as all craft worker hours performed on the project by California residents, excluding the hours performed off site metal fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Resident may be applied towards the 30% goal.

C O N T R A C T O R U S E O N L Y Please complete and fax or email this form to the applicable union to request craft workers that fulfill the hiring requirements for this project. After faxing your request, please call the Local to verify receipt and substantiate their capacity to furnish workers as specified below. Please print your Fax or Email Transmission Verification Reports and keep copies for your records. Local Union

TO:	Email	
	Fax	
	Project Labor Coordinator	
CC:	Email	
	Fax	
	Contractor	
	Issued by	
FROM:	Email	
	Phone	
	Fax	

UNION CRAFT WORKER REQUEST:								
Craft Classification	Journeyman or Apprentice	Tier 1 & Tier 2	Targeted Workers	No. of Workers Requested				
	□ JM □APP	*	**					
	□ JM □APP	*	**					
	□ JM □APP	*	**					
	□ JM □APP	*	**					
	□ JM □APP	*	**					
Total Number of Workers Requested:								

In accordance with the PLA, Article 7, Referral, we are requesting the union:

- ★ Please provide workers from Tier 1. If the supply of available Tier 1 workers has been exhausted, please provide workers from Tier 2, if available.
- ** Please provide targeted workers, if available.

WORKER REPORTING I	NSTRUCTIONS:
Reporting Date:	
Reporting Time:	
Project Name:	
Project Location:	
Reporting To:	
On Site Phone:	
Special Instructions:	

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Martin Luther King Jr. Medical Campus

 B 1	 	 	0		
NI.	 NI.	_ L		.	•
- 1/1	IN	, r		N I	

Please complete the "Union Use Only" section and fax or email both pages to the requesting Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator.

Date Dispatch Received:

Dispatch Received by:

Date Worker(s) Dispatched:							
Name:	Helmets to Hardhats	JM or App	Tier 1 Worker? *	Tier 2 Worker? *	Zip Code	Targeted Worker?	Targeted Category ★ ★
	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ JM ☐ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	

[★] PLEASE NOTE: By marking the "No" box for either the "Tier 1 Available" or "Tier 2 Available" categories you are certifying, on behalf of the Union, that the Union has exhausted all reasonable efforts to locate and dispatch such Tier 1 or Tier 2 worker.

Tier 1:

90001	90002	90003	90011	90037	90047	90058	90059	90061	90201
90220	90221	90222	90242	90247	90255	90262	90270	90280	90303
90723	90805								
Tier 2:									
90004	90005	90006	90007	90008	90010	90012	90013	90014	90015
90016	90017	90018	90019	90020	90021	90022	90023	90026	90028
90029	90031	90032	90033	90034	90035	90036	90038	90040	90042
90043	90057	90062	90063	90065	90071	90301	90302	90304	90501
90601	90602	90630	90640	90660	90706	90715	90716	90731	90744
90802	90804	90806	90810	90813	91001	91103	91204	91205	91303
91306	91321	91324	91331	91340	91342	91343	91352	91401	91402
91405	91406	91411	91502	91601	91605	91606	91702	91706	91731
91732	91733	91755	91766	91767	91768	91770	91776	93534	93535
93550	93591								

A Targeted Worker is an individual who is both a County resident and who faces one or more of the following barriers to employment:

- 1. Has a documented annual income at or below 100% of the Federal Poverty Level
- 2. Has no high school diploma or GED
- 3. Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system
- 4. Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months)
- 5. Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits
- 6. Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year
- 7. Is a custodial single parent
- 8. Is a former foster youth
- 9. Is a veteran or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a])
- 10. Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker
- 11. Is currently an English language learner
- 12. Is an older individual (55+)
- 13. Is disabled
- 14. Is an individual with a low level of literacy

^{**} Please indicate number of the Targeted Worker category (1 through 14, as shown below). You may indicate multiple categories per worker.

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Rancho Los Amigos South Campus

The County of Los Angeles' Community Workforce Agreement establishes for projects with a total budget greater than \$2.5 million, with the exception of affordable housing projects, there shall be a *mandatory* hiring goal of at least 30% California Construction Labor Hours performed by either Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Residents and at least 10% of California Construction Labor Hours on the project performed by those classified as a Targeted Worker. California Construction Labor Hours is defined as all craft worker hours performed on the project by California residents, excluding the hours performed off site metal fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Resident may be applied towards the 30% goal.

		СО	N	T R	Α	С	T (R	U	S	Е	0	N	L	Υ				
Please comp	olete and fax or ema	il this form to	the a	applicable	e unic	on to r	equest	craft w	orkers th	at fulf	fill the h	iring re	equiren	nents	s for th	iis proje	ect. Aft	er fax	king your reques
	he Local to verify re keep copies for you		bstan	tiate thei	r capa	acity t	o Turnis	n work	ers as sp	эесіп	ea belo	w. Piea	ase pri	nt yc	our Fax	(or Em	nali ira	insmi	ssion verificatio
		Local Unio	n #																
TO:			mail																
			Fax																
	Project Labor	r Coordin	ator																
CC:	Project Labor		mail																
00.			Fax																
			ı ux																
		Contra	ctor																
		Issue																	
FROM:			mail																
			one																
			Fax																
LINIONI		D DEOUE	CT																
UNION	CRAFT WORKE	R REQUE	<u>۱۱:</u>												1				No. of
							14	nurno	yman (or						Targe	tod		Workers
Craft Cla	assification						"		entice	UI	Tie	r 1 &	Tier	2		Work			Requested
Orant Oil	33modton						F	лры Э JM		P	110	*				**			ricquesteu
							_	3 JM	□AP			*				**	k		
								_ JM	□AP			*				**	k		
							_	J JM	□AP			*				**	k		
								J JM	□AP	Р		*				**	k		
										To	otal N	umbe	r of V	Vor	kers	Requ	estec	l:	
[
	<u>In a</u>	<u>accordar</u>	ice i	vith th	e Pl	_A, <i>A</i>	Articl	e 7, R	Referra	ıl, w	e are	requ	ıestir	ng t	he u	nion:	<u>:</u>		
	* Please provi	ide worke	rs fr	om Tie	r 1.	If th	e sup	o yla	f availa	able	Tier 1	l wor	kers	has	bee	n exh	auste	ed,	
	please provid																		
	** Please pro																		
L					·														
WORKE	R REPORTING	INSTRUC	TION	IS:															
Reportir	ng Date:																		
Reportir	ng Time:																		
Project I																			
	Location:																		
Reportir																			
On Site																			
Snecial	Instructions:																		

Attachment C: Craft Request Form [Page 1 of 2]

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Rancho Los Amigos South Campus

JNION USE ONLY

Please complete the "Union Use Only" section and fax or email both pages to the requesting Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator.

Date Dispatch Received:
Dispatch Received by:

Date Worker(s) Dispatched:							
Name:	Helmets to Hardhats	JM or App	Tier 1 Worker? *	Tier 2 Worker? *	Zip Code	Targeted Worker?	Targeted Category ★★
	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ JM ☐ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No	

[★] PLEASE NOTE: By marking the "No" box for either the "Tier 1 Available" or "Tier 2 Available" categories you are certifying, on behalf of the Union, that the Union has exhausted all reasonable efforts to locate and dispatch such Tier 1 or Tier 2 worker.

** Please indicate number of the Targeted Worker category (1 through 14, as shown below). You may indicate multiple categories per worker.

Tier 1

Her I:									
90001	90002	90023	90040	90058	90059	90201	90220	90221	90222
90242	90255	90262	90270	90280	90640	90660	90706	90723	90805
Tier 2:									
90003	90004	90005	90006	90007	90008	90010	90011	9012	90013
90014	90015	90016	90017	90018	90019	90020	90021	90022	90026
90028	90029	90031	90032	90033	90034	90035	90036	90037	90038
90042	90043	90044	90047	90057	90061	90062	90063	90065	90071
90247	90301	90302	90303	90304	90501	90601	90602	90630	90715
90716	90731	90744	90802	90804	90806	90810	90813	91001	91103
91204	91205	91303	91306	91321	91324	91331	91340	91342	91343
91352	91401	91402	91405	91406	91411	91502	91601	91605	91606
91702	91706	91731	91732	91733					

A <u>Targeted Worker</u> is an individual who is both a County resident and who faces **one or more** of the following barriers to employment:

- 1. Has a documented annual income at or below 100% of the Federal Poverty Level
- 2. Has no high school diploma or GED
- 3. Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system
- 4. Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months)
- 5. Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits
- 6. Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year
- 7. Is a custodial single parent
- 8. Is a former foster youth
- 9. Is a veteran or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a])
- 10. Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker
- 11. Is currently an English language learner
- 12. Is an older individual (55+)
- 13. Is disabled
- 14. Is an individual with a low level of literacy

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Mira Loma Women's Detention Center

The County of Los Angeles' Community Workforce Agreement establishes for projects with a total budget greater than \$2.5 million, with the exception of affordable housing projects, there shall be a *mandatory* hiring goal of at least 30% California Construction Labor Hours performed by either Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Residents and at least 10% of California Construction Labor Hours on the project performed by those classified as a Targeted Worker. California Construction Labor Hours is defined as all craft worker hours performed on the project by California residents, excluding the hours performed off site metal fabricators, designers, project office staff, or vendors. Hours worked by a Targeted Worker who is also a Tier 1 or Tier 2 Qualified Local Resident may be applied towards the 30% goal.

	, venagrer rigare ne	C O N	T R A	СТ	OR	U S	F 0	N L	Υ	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
please call t	olete and fax or ema he Local to verify re keep copies for you	il this form to the a ceipt and substan	applicable unic	n to req	uest craft w	orkers that fu	ılfill the hiring re	equirements	for this project. After ur Fax or Email Trans	faxing your request, smission Verification
		Local Union #								
TO:		Email								
		Fax								
	Project Labor	r Coordinator								
CC:	1 Toject Labor	Email								
00.		Fax								
			1							
		Contractor								
		Issued by								
FROM:		Email								
		Phone								
		Fax								
LINION (CRAFT WORKE	D DEULIEST∙								
ONION	SKALL WORKE	R REQUEST.								No. of
					Journe	yman or			Targeted	Workers
Craft Cla	assification					entice	Tier 1 &	Tier 2	Workers	Requested
					□JM	□APP	*		**	
					□JM	□APP	*		**	
					□JM	□APP	*		**	
					□JM	□APP	*		**	
					□JM	□APP	*		**	
					•	Т	otal Numbe	r of Work	kers Requested:	
[·	
	<u>In a</u>	accordance v	vith the Pl	_A, Ar	ticle 7, R	eferral, v	ve are requ	iesting tl	<u>he union:</u>	
	* Please provi	de workers fr	om Tier 1.	If the	o vlagus	f available	e Tier 1 wor	kers has	been exhausted	d.
		le workers fro								
	** Please pro									
WORKE	R REPORTING	INSTRUCTION	IS:							
Reportir	ng Date:									
	ng Time:									
Project I										
	Location:									
Reportir										
On Site										
Special	Instructions:									

Attachment C: Craft Request Form [Page 1 of 2]

Los Angeles County Major Capital Projects Craft Request Form

Project: Mira Loma Women's Detention Center

	U	NION	USE	ONLY							
Please complete the "Union Use Only" section and fax or email both pages to the requesting Contractor and Project Labor Coordinator.											
Date Dispatch Received:											
Dispatch Received by:											
Date Worker(s)											
Dispatched:											
	Helmets to		Tier 1	Tier 2	Zip	Targeted	Targeted				
Name:	Hardhats	JM or App	Worker? ★	Worker? ★	Code	Worker?	Category**				
	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ JM ☐ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No					
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No					
	☐ Yes ☐ No	□ JM □ APP	☐ Yes ☐ No	☐ Yes ☐ No		☐ Yes ☐ No					
	☐ Yes ☐ No	\square JM \square APP	□ Yes □ No	□ Yes □ No		☐ Yes ☐ No					

☐ Yes ☐ No

 \square JM \square APP

□ JM □ APP

Tier 1:

93534

Tier 2:

90019	90020	90021	90022	90023	90026	90028	90029	90031	90032
90033	90034	90035	90036	90037	90038	90040	90042	90043	90044
90047	90057	90058	90059	90061	90062	90063	90065	90071	90201
90220	90221	90242	90247	90255	90262	90270	90280	90301	90302
90303	90304	90501	90601	90602	90630	90640	90660	90706	90715
90716	90723	90731	90744	90802	90804	90805	90806	90810	90813
91001	91103	91204	91205	91303	91306	91321	91324	91331	91340
91342	91343	91352	91401	91402	91405	91406	91411	91502	91601
91605	91606	91702	91706	91731	91732	91733	91755	91766	91767
91768	91770	91776	93535	93550	93591				

A Targeted Worker is an individual who is both a County resident and who faces one or more of the following barriers to employment:

- 1. Has a documented annual income at or below 100% of the Federal Poverty Level
- 2. Has no high school diploma or GED
- 3. Has a history of involvement with the criminal justice system

☐ Yes ☐ No

☐ Yes ☐ No

- 4. Is experiencing protracted unemployment (receiving unemployment benefits for at least 6 months)
- 5. Is a current recipient of government cash or food assistance benefits
- 6. Is homeless or has been homeless within the last year
- 7. Is a custodial single parent
- 8. Is a former foster youth
- 9. Is a veteran or is the eligible spouse of a veteran of the United States armed forces under Section 2(a) of the Jobs for Veterans Act (38 U.S.C.4215[a])
- 10. Is an eligible migrant and seasonal farm worker
- 11. Is currently an English language learner
- 12. Is an older individual (55+)
- 13. Is disabled
- 14. Is an individual with a low level of literacy

[★] PLEASE NOTE: By marking the "No" box for either the "Tier 1 Available" or "Tier 2 Available" categories you are certifying, on behalf of the Union, that the Union has exhausted all reasonable efforts to locate and dispatch such Tier 1 or Tier 2 worker.

^{**} Please indicate number of the Targeted Worker category (1 through 14, as shown below). You may indicate multiple categories per worker.

LOS ANGELES/ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL APPROVED DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

(rev. December 2019)

The Parties recognize the problems which drug and alcohol abuse have created in the construction industry and the need to develop drug and alcohol abuse prevention programs. Accordingly, the Parties agree that in order to enhance the safety of the workplace and to maintain a drug and alcohol-free work environment, individual Employers may require applicants or employees to undergo drug and alcohol testing.

- 1. It is understood that the use, possession, transfer or sale of illegal drugs, narcotics, or other unlawful substances, as well as being under the influence of alcohol and the possession or consuming alcohol is absolutely prohibited while employees are on the Employer's job premises or while working on any jobsite in connection with work performed under the Community Workforce Agreement ("CWA").
- 2. No Employer may implement a drug testing program which does not conform in all respects to the provisions of this Policy.
- 3. No Employer may implement drug testing at any jobsite unless written notice is given to the Union setting forth the location of the jobsite, a description of the project under construction, and the name and telephone number of the Project Supervisor. Said notice shall be addressed to the office of each Union signing the CWA. Said notice shall be sent by email or by registered mail before the implementation of drug testing. Failure to give such notice shall make any drug testing engaged in by the Employer a violation of the CWA, and the Employer may not implement any form of drug testing at such jobsite for the following six months.
- 4. An Employer who elects to implement drug testing pursuant to this Agreement shall require all employees on the Project to be tested. With respect to individuals who become employed on the Project subsequent to the proper implementation of a valid drug testing program, such test shall be administered upon the commencement of employment on the project, whether by referral from a Union Dispatch Office, transfer from another project, or another method. Individuals who were employed on the project prior to the proper implementation of a valid drug testing program may only be subjected to testing for the reasons set forth in paragraphs 5(g)(l) through 5(g)(3) and paragraphs 6(a) through 6(e) of this Policy. Refusal to undergo such testing shall be considered sufficient grounds to deny employment on the project.
- 5. The following procedure shall apply to all drug testing:

- a. The Employer may request urine samples only. The applicant or employee shall not be observed when the urine specimen is given. An applicant or employee, at his or her sole option, shall, upon request, receive a blood test in lieu of a urine test. No employee of the Employer shall draw blood from a bargaining unit employee, touch or handle urine specimens, or in any way become involved in the chain of custody of urine or blood specimens. AUnion Business Representative, subject to the approval of the individual applicant or employee, shall be permitted to accompany the applicant or employee to the collection facility to observe the collection, bottling, and sealing of the specimen.
- b. An employer may request an applicant to perform an alcohol breathalyzer test, at a certified laboratory only and cutoff levels shall be those mandated by applicable state or federal law.
- c. The testing shall be done by a laboratory approved by the Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), which is chosen by the Employer and the Union.
- d. An initial test shall be performed using the Enzyme Multiplied Immunoassay Technique (EMIT). In the event a question or positive result arises from the initial test, a confirmation test must be utilized before action can be taken against the applicant or employee. The confirmation test will be by Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS). Cutoff levels for both the initial test and confirmation test will be those established by SAMHSA. Should these SAMHSA levels be changed during the course of this Agreement or new testing procedures are approved, then these new regulations will be deemed as part of this existing Agreement. Confirmed positive samples will be retained by the testing laboratory in secured long-term frozen storage for a minimum of one year. Handling and transportation of each sample must be documented through strict chain of custody procedures.
- e. In the event of a confirmed positive test result the applicant or employee may request, within forty-eight (48) hours, a sample of his/her specimen from the testing laboratory for purposes of a second test to be performed at a second laboratory, designated by the Union and approved by SAMHSA. The retest must be performed within ten (10) days of the request. Chain of custody for this sample shall be maintained by the Employer between the original testing laboratory and the Union's designated laboratory. Retesting shall be performed at the applicant's or employee's expense. In the event of conflicting test results the Employer may require a third test.
- f. If, as a result of the above testing procedure, it is determined that an applicant or employee has tested positive, this shall be considered sufficient grounds to deny the applicant or employee his/her employment on the project.
- g. No individual who tests negative for drugs pursuant to the above procedure and becomes employed on the project shall again be subjected to drug testing with the following exceptions:

- 1. Employees who are involved in industrial accidents resulting in damage to plant, property or equipment or injury to him/her or others may be tested for drug or alcohol pursuant to the procedures stated hereinabove.
- 2. The Employer may test employees following thirty (30) days advance written notice to the employee(s) to be tested and to the applicable Union. Notice to the applicable Union shall be as set forth in paragraph 3 above and such testing shall be pursuant to the procedures stated hereinabove.
- 3. The Employer may test an employee where the Employer has reasonable cause to believe that the employee is impaired from performing his/her job. Reasonable cause shall be defined as being aberrant or unusual behavior, the type of which is a recognized and accepted symptom of impairment (i.e., slurred speech, unusual lack of muscular coordination, etc.). Such behavior must be actually observed by at least two persons, one of whom shall be a supervisor who has been trained to recognize the symptoms of drug abuse or impairment and the other of whom shall be the Job Steward. If the Job Steward is unavailable or there is no Job Steward on the project the other person shall be a member of the applicable Union's bargaining unit. Testing shall be pursuant to the procedures stated hereinabove. Employees who are tested pursuant to the exceptions set forth in this paragraph and who test positive will be removed from the Employer's payroll.
- h. Applicants or employees who do not test positive shall be paid for all time lost while undergoing drug testing. Payment shall be at the applicable wage and benefit rates set forth in the applicable Union's Master Labor Agreement. Applicants who have been dispatched from the Union and who are not put to work pending the results of a test will be paid waiting time until such time as they are put to work. It is understood that an applicant must pass the test as a condition of employment. Applicants who are put to work pending the results of a test will be considered probationary employees.
- 6. The Employers will be allowed to conduct periodic jobsite drug testing on the Project under the following conditions:
- a. The entire jobsite must be tested, including any employee or subcontractor's employee who worked on that project three (3) working days before or after the date of the test;
- b. Jobsite testing cannot commence sooner than fifteen (15) days after start of the work on the project;
- c. Prior to start of periodic testing, a Business Representative will be allowed to conduct an educational period on company time to explain periodic jobsite testing program to affected employees;
- d. Testing shall be conducted by a SAMHSA certified laboratory, pursuant to the provisions set forth in paragraph 5 hereinabove.

- e. Only two (2) periodic tests may be performed in a twelve (12) month period.
- 7. It is understood that the unsafe use of prescribed medication, or where the use of prescribed medication impairs the employee's ability to perform work, is a basis for the Employer to remove the employee from the jobsite.
- 8. Any grievance or dispute which may arise out of the application of this Agreement shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in the CWA.
- 9. The establishment or operation of this Policy shall not curtail any right of any employee found in any law, rule or regulation. Should any part of this Agreement be found unlawful by a court of competent jurisdiction or a public agency having jurisdiction over the parties, the remaining portions of the Agreement shall be unaffected, and the parties shall enter negotiations to replace the affected provision.
- 10. Present employees, if tested positive, shall have the prerogative for rehabilitation program at the employee's expense. When such program has been successfully completed the Employer shall not discriminate in any way against the employee. If work for which the employee is qualified exists, he/she shall be reinstated.
- 11. The Employer agrees that results of urine and blood tests performed hereunder will be considered medical records held confidential to the extent permitted or required by law. Such records shall not be released to any persons or entities other than designated Employer representatives and the applicable Union. Such release to the applicable Union shall only be allowed upon the signing of a written release and the information contained therein shall not be used to discourage the employment of the individual applicant or employee on any subsequent occasion.
- 12. The Employer shall indemnify and hold the Union harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or liabilities that may arise out of the application of this Agreement and/or any program permitted hereunder.
- 13. Employees who seek voluntary assistance for substance abuse may not be disciplined for seeking such assistance. Requests from employees for such assistance shall remain confidential and shall not be revealed to other employees or management personnel without the employee's consent. Employees enrolled in substance abuse programs will be subject to all Employer rules, regulations and job performance standards with the understanding that an employee enrolled in such a program is receiving treatment for an illness.
- 14. The parties agree to develop and implement a drug abuse prevention and testing program for all apprentices entering the industry.
- 15. This Memorandum of Understanding shall constitute the only Agreement in effect between

the parties concerning drug and alcohol abuse, prevention and testing. Any modifications thereto must be accomplished pursuant to collective bargaining negotiations between the parties.

APPENDIX A: SPECIMEN REPORTING CRITERIA

Initial Test Analyte	Initial Test Cutoff ¹	Confirmatory Test Analyte	Confirmatory Test Cutoff Concentration
Marijuana metabolites (THCA) ²	50 ng/ml^{3}	THCA	15 ng/ml
Cocaine metabolite (Benzoylecgonine)	150ng/ml ³	Benzoylecgonine	100 ng/ml
Codeine/ Morphine	2000 ng/ml	Codeine Morphine	2000 ng/ml 2000 ng/ml
Hydrocodone/ Hydromorphone	300 ng/ml	Hydrocodone Hydromorphone	100 ng/ml 100 ng/ml
Alcohol	0.02%	Ethanol	0.02%
Oxycodone/ Oxymorphone	100 ng/ml	Oxycodone Oxymorphone	100 ng/ml 100 ng/ml
6-Acetylmorphine	10 ng/ml	6-Acetylmorphine	10 ng/ml
Phencyclidine	25 ng/ml	Phencyclidine	25 ng/ml
Amphetamine/ Methamphetamine	500 ng/ml	Amphetamine Methamphetamine	250 ng/ml 250 ng/ml
MDMA ⁴ /MDA ⁵	500 ng/ml	MDMA MDA	250 ng/ml 250 ng/ml

¹ For grouped analytes (i.e., two or more analytes that are in the same drug class and have the same initial test cutoff):

Immunoassay: The test must be calibrated with one analyte from the group identified as the target analyte. The cross-reactivity of the immunoassay to the other analyte(s) within the group must be 80 percent or greater; if not, separate immunoassays must be used for the analytes within the group.

Alternate technology: Either one analyte or all analytes from the group must be used for calibration, depending on the technology. At least one analyte within the group must have a concentration equal to or greater than the initial test cutoff or, alternatively, the sum of the analytes present (i.e., equal to or greater than the laboratory's validated limit of quantification) must be equal to or greater than the initial test cutoff.

² An immunoassay must be calibrated with the target analyte, 9-tetrahydrocannabinoJ-9- carboxylic acid (THCA).

³ <u>Alternate technology (THCA and benzoylecgonine):</u> The confirmatory test cutoff must be used for an alternate technology initial test that is specific for the target analyte (i.e., 15 ng/ml for THCA, 100 ng/ ml for benzoylecgonine).

⁴ Methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)

⁵ Methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA)

Initial Test Analyte	Initial Test Cutoff	Confirmatory Test Analyte	Confirmatory Test Cutoff Concentration	
Barbiturates	300 ng/ml	Barbiturates	200 ng/ml	
Benzodiazepines	300 ng/ml	Benzodiazepines	300 ng/ml	
Methadone	300 ng/ml	Methadone	100 ng/ml	
Methaqualone	300 ng/ml	Methaqualone	300 ng/ml	
Propoxyphene	300 ng/ml	Propoxyphene	100 ng/ml	

SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT TESTING POLICY FOR DRUG ABUSE

It is hereby agreed between the parties hereto that an Employer who has otherwise properly implemented drug testing, as set forth in the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse, shall have the right to offer an applicant or employee a "quick" drug screening test. This "quick" screen test shall consist either of the "ICUP" urine screen or similar test or an oral screen test. The applicant or employee shall have the absolute right to select either of the two "quick" screen tests, or to reject both and request a full drug test.

An applicant or employee who selects one of the "quick" screen tests, and who passes the test, shall be put to work immediately. An applicant or employee who fails the "quick" screen test, or who rejects the "quick" screen tests, shall be tested pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse. The sample used for the "quick" screen test shall be discarded immediately upon conclusion of the test. An applicant or employee shall not be deprived of any rights granted to them by the Testing Policy for Drug Abuse as a result of any occurrence related to the "quick" screen test.